
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 4 March 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Mr. E. Walters (0116 3052583) 

Email: Euan.Walters@leics.gov.uk 

Membership 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (Chairman) 
 

Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 

Mr. T. Gillard CC 
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 

 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 
2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 
7.  

  
Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
35.  
 

 
 

 

8.  
  

Dental Commissioning.  
 

NHS England 
 

(Pages 13 - 24) 

9.  
  

Single Strategic Commissioner for Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  
 

Leicester, 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning 
Groups 
 

(Pages 25 - 54) 

10.  
  

2019/20 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention Programme Update.  
 

West 
Leicestershire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 
 

(Pages 55 - 60) 

11.  
  

Leicestershire Suicide Prevention Strategy and 
Action Plan 2020.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 61 - 74) 

12.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 3 
June 2020 at 2:00pm. 
 
 

 

13.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at County 
Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 15 January 2020.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC 
Mr. B. Crooks CC 
Mr. T. Gillard CC 
 

Mrs. A. J. Hack CC 
Mr. J. Morgan CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mrs. M. Wright CC 
 

In attendance 
Mr. L. Breckon CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing. 
Micheal Smith, Manager, Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire. 
Caroline Trevithick, Chief Nurse and Quality Lead, Deputy MD, West Leicestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (minute 47 refers). 
Tamsin Hooton, Director of Service Improvement/CSR, West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (minute 47 refers).  
Rachel Bilsborough, Director, Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (minute 47 refers). 
Dr Barbara Kneale, Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society (minute 47 refers). 
Ken Ward, Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society (minute 47 refers). 
Christine Baker, Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society (minute 47 refers). 
Claire Ellwood, Head of Pharmacy at University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (minute 
49 refers). 
Anthony Oxley, Head of Pharmacy at Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (minute 49 
refers). 
Vishal Mashru, Head of Prescribing, East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Group (minute 50 refers). 
Kate Allardyce, NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (minute 51 
refers). 

 
40. Minutes.  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2019 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

41. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

42. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

43. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

 
44. Declarations of interest.  

 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

45. Declarations of the Party Whip.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 16. 
 

46. Presentation of Petitions.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

47. Community Services in Ashby.  
 
The Committee considered a report of West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(WLCCG) which responded to concerns raised by Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society 
regarding Community Services in Ashby. The Committee was also in receipt of 
representations from the Leicestershire County Council Labour Group, Ashby de la 
Zouch Town Council and the local member Mr. J. Coxon CC. A copy of the report from 
WLCCG, marked ‘Agenda item 8’, the documents outlining the concerns from the Civic 
Society, and the other representations are filed with these minutes.  
 
The Committee welcomed Caroline Trevithick, Chief Nurse and Quality Lead, Deputy 
MD, and Tamsin Hooton, Director of Service Improvement/CSR both from West 
Leicestershire CCG, along with Rachel Bilsborough, Director, Leicestershire Partnership 
NHS Trust, to the meeting for this item. The Committee also welcomed Dr Barbara 
Kneale, Ken Ward, and Christine Baker from Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The site of the former Ashby Hospital had been sold to a property developer and 

been developed. There were strict guidelines on what the proceeds of the sale 

could be spent on and the majority of the funding had been spent on measures to 

create an agile workforce such as providing nurses with laptops. 

 

(ii) When patients were transferred from an acute hospital into a community hospital 

transport was provided. Therefore the availability of public transport was only an 

issue for the patients’ visitors rather than for the patients themselves.  

 

(iii) The model of care for Ashby residents was largely consistent with the model in the 

rest of the WLCCG area, with patients discharged to home wherever possible.  The 

model had led to a significant increase in discharge to assess and reablement beds. 

Two care homes in Coalville provided these beds and it was hoped that a care 

home in Ashby would also come forward.  It was recognised that long stays in acute 

hospitals were not good for patients’ outcomes, meaning that some patients who 

were not able to be discharged to their home would be discharged to community 

hospitals instead.  However, this number was relatively small, with only 2000 

6



 
 

 

 

patients a year admitted to Community Hospitals. Between November 2014 and 

October 2018 only 233 patients from the LE65 postcode had been admitted to 

Community Hospitals. For Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 46% of patients 

were admitted to their nearest community hospital; this was the same as the figure 

for Ashby residents and reflected patient choice, the desire to be in a hospital near 

to relatives and specific clinical issues such as the need for a specialist bed which 

could mean that the nearest Community Hospital was not suitable. Conversations 

were ongoing with University Hospitals of Derby and Burton NHS Foundation Trust 

regarding a shared discharge pathway. 
 

(iv) Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society expressed disappointment that the promised new 

community services were still under review, given that the hospital had closed over 

four years ago and two GP surgeries in Ashby had also subsequently closed.  In 

response, the CCG acknowledged that it had received some negative feedback and 

was working closely with the Castle Medical Group to consolidate the local offer, 

including diagnostic services.  However, there was a national issue with GP 

recruitment and retention. The Community Services Model had also changed over 

time; the initial focus had been to improve nurse led services, whereas the intention 

now was to integrate health and social care services.  It was recognised that there 

could be delays with social care packages however work was ongoing to increase 

capacity and the health service was also funding additional reablement packages. 

Evaluation of the impact of integrated care was taking place and Key Performance 

Indicators were in place.  Healthwatch had been asked to undertake a survey of 

patients’ experience of the integrated system. 

 

(v) With regard to concerns that funding received from developers under Section 106 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 had not been used efficiently it was 

explained that a business case had been drafted by WLCCG to use Section 106 

monies to expand the GP Surgery in Ashby and this work was ongoing. 
 

(vi) In response to concerns raised by Ashby Civic Society that they would not be kept 

informed of developments, WLCCG offered to give consideration to whether Ashby 

residents could be invited to the Citizens’ Panel which was considering work across 

LLR in relation to the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, and it was 

noted that CCG Board papers were published online enabling residents to keep up 

with developments. With regards to scrutiny of the future developments it was 

clarified that due to the various workstreams that were being developed it would not 

be possible to bring one overarching report to the Committee but instead a number 

of reports would be submitted for consideration over the coming months. 

RESOLVED: 
 

(a) That this Committee notes: 

 

(i) The Concerns raised by Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society regarding the 

impact of the closure of Ashby & District Community Hospital; 

 

(ii) The response to Ashby de la Zouch Civic Society’s concerns produced by 

West Leicestershire CCG. 

 

7



 
 

 

 

(b) That this Committee requests West Leicestershire CCG to have regard to the 

concerns now raised during its review of the impact of home based community care 

on the use of community inpatient beds and short term reablement beds; 

 

(c) That this Committee requests West Leicestershire CCG to provide an update on 

progress with the review referred to in (b) above in 6 months time; 

 
(d) That this Committee receives the business case for phase 2 of the Community 

Services Review for consideration; 

 
(e) That the CCG be requested to prioritise the work with North West Leicestershire 

District Council regarding S106 funding and report back to the Committee in due 

course regarding the business case for S106 and CCG capital funding in the 

locality. 

 
 

48. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/2021  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Public Health and the Director 
of Corporate Resources which provided information on the proposed 2020/21 to 2023/24 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it related to the Public Health Department. A 
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item ‘9’ is filed with these minutes.   
 
The Chairman welcomed Mr. L. Breckon CC, Cabinet Lead Member for Health, Public 
Health and Sport, to the meeting for this item. 
 
In introducing the report, the Director informed the Committee that the Public Health 
Grant for 2020/21 was expected to be increased in line with inflation plus 1%. However, 
the funding arrangements from 2021 onwards remained uncertain. 
 
The Cabinet Lead Member informed the Committee that the Public Health budget was 
tight, but he felt that it represented the best value for public money. 
 
Arising from discussion, the following points were noted:- 
 
Proposed Revenue Budget 
 
(i) It was clarified that the figure for the proposed/provisional budget was calculated by 

taking the figure for the original budget, adding the budget transfers and 
adjustments and also adding proposed growth, before subtracting the savings that 
needed to be made within the department to facilitate spending elsewhere within the 
Authority.  
 

(ii) Approximately two thirds of the net budget for 2020/2021 was proposed to be spent 
on Sexual Health, Children’s Public Health 0-19 and substance misuse. 

 
Savings 
 
(iii) To achieve the required £665,000 savings for 2020/21 it was planned to increase 

the capacity of the Programme Delivery Team to enable a reduction in the number 
of externally commissioned services. A review of staffing and the skills mix within 

8



 
 

 

 

the Public Health department would also take place as a number of Consultants 
were due to retire.  
 

(iv) The potential impact on service users as a result of service reductions was 
considered by the Public Health department and the policy of bringing more 
services in house had enabled the Public Health Department to better understand 
the consequences of decisions made. Public Health held joint Departmental 
Management Team meetings with colleagues from the Adults and Communities and 
Children and Families departments within the County Council which enabled 
potential issues to be identified and the impact of service reductions to be 
assessed. Public Health Consultants also attended a range of meetings with other 
partners, including Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Bodies, which enabled 
two-way discussion regarding the impact of service redesign to take place.  

 

(v) Work had taken place nationally to assess the impact of Public Health transition to 
local authorities.  Research carried out by the Local Government Association and by 
the King’s Fund presented a positive picture. The Public Health Outcomes 
Framework also showed that performance had not been affected by the transition.  
However, it was not currently possible to monitor individual patient’s journeys and 
track their outcomes due to data protection issues. 

 
(vi) Savings would be made from the 0-19 Health Visiting and School Nursing Service 

through a freeze on recruitment and by making better use of digital technology, for 
example the last check on a newborn child could be undertaken electronically. The 
programme targeted towards high risk parents would no longer be provided by a 
separate team, which would result in some savings. The Director undertook to 
circulate details of the redesigned service to members following the meeting. 

 
External Influences and Other funding sources 
 
(vii) At this stage many of the external funding sources for 2020/21 were assumed rather 

than confirmed but the ‘green’ rating for all but one of them indicated a high level of 
confidence that the funding would be received. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a)     That the report and information now provided be noted; 

 
(b)     That the comments now made be forwarded to the Scrutiny Commission for 

consideration at its meeting on 27 January 2020. 
 
 

 
49. Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Report on Medication Management.  

 
The Committee considered a report of Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire which 
presented their findings in relation to medicine prescription in acute hospitals. A copy of 
the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed Micheal Smith, Manager, Healthwatch Leicester and 
Leicestershire to the meeting for this item along with Claire Ellwood, Head of Pharmacy 
at University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) and Anthony Oxley, Head of 
Pharmacy at Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). 

9



 
 

 

 

 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) It was ensured that patients who were discharged from UHL and LPT had enough 

medication to last a minimum of two weeks; this could come from the hospital 
pharmacy or be part of a supply that the patient already had at home. 
Conversations took place with patients before they left the hospital to ensure the 
right amount of medication was provided. 
 

(ii) An audit had taken place of the time it took discharge documentation to reach GP 
Practices and reassurance was given that it was generally arriving in good time. 
Delays could arise when a patient was discharged late at night or out of hours. 
Some patients, once they were clinically ready to be discharged, did not wish to wait 
for the hospital pharmacist to provide them with medication so in order to deal with 
this problem UHL were trying to get prescriptions written earlier in the discharge 
process so they were ready as soon as the patient wished to leave. 

 

(iii) There were some challenges around outpatient prescriptions being received at GP 
Practices in good time. Outpatients at UHL would normally receive one month’s 
supply of medication. However, there were known to be issues with medication 
supply for patients who had attended the Emergency Department due to the levels 
of unpredictability. Documentation was being produced to clarify expectations and 
ensure consistent practice across UHL, LPT and the CCGs. 

 

(iv) Prescription letters were generated by the computer system within 24 hours 
therefore a copy could always be obtained even if the patient did not have the letter. 
A patient would not have to attend a further appointment to get a replacement 
prescription letter. LPT was moving towards using the System 1 computer database 
which was the same system used by most GP Practices in Leicestershire therefore 
in future GPs would be able to check System 1 to view a prescription issued by 
LPT. 

 

(v) Prescriptions given to patients by a hospital could only be taken to the hospital 
pharmacy not to a community pharmacy. This was because hospitals could obtain 
medication at a lower cost than other pharmacies and also because specialist drugs 
were not always available in community pharmacies.  Consideration was being 
given to enabling repeat prescriptions to be collected from Community Hospitals 
rather than UHL, where this was more convenient for patients.  Outpatient waiting 
times were audited and 95% of prescriptions were dispensed in less than 20 
minutes. 

 

(vi) A member raised concerns regarding the public perception of how GP Practices 
managed their prescription budget and it was questioned what any underspend was 
used for. Reassurance was given that decisions on which medication to prescribe 
patients were not based on cost and if a patient was prescribed a particular 
medicine at hospital then the GP should continue to prescribe that medicine if it was 
still appropriate for the patient’s clinical needs. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire Report on Medication 
Management be noted. 
 

10



 
 

 

 

50. Medicine Shortages.  
 
The Committee considered a report of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning Groups which provided an overview on medicines shortages and 
processes in place for the escalation and management of these shortages. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed Vishal Mashru, Head of Prescribing, ELRCCG to the meeting 
for this item. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) At any one time approximately between 50 and 70 medicines could be unavailable. 

Some were intermittently out of stock for a few days then became available again 
whilst others were unavailable for longer periods. It was challenging for GP 
practices and pharmacies to keep up to date with which medicines were available 
as the situation was very fluid but efforts were made to keep up to date as far as 
possible. 
 

(ii) If drug manufacturers chose to discontinue certain types of drugs or reduce their 
availability then there was little the NHS could do to make that drug more available. 
In order to minimise the impact of medicine shortages partnership working needed 
to take place with all stakeholders. 

 
(iii) At times some brands of adrenaline auto injector pens were not available locally 

though it was possible to call the manufacturers and arrange for more pens to be 
sent. Adrenaline auto injectors operated differently depending on the brand 
therefore family members of patients were provided with training when a new device 
was given to a patient. Paramedics were trained how to use lots of different devices. 
Although training took place in schools on the different devices the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups were not involved in this training. 

 

(iv) The NHS had put together robust plans to ensure medicines were available after 
Brexit which included holding stock in UK depots. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the update on medicine shortages be noted with concern. 
 

51. Health Performance Report.  
 
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive of the County Council 
and NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit, which provided an 
update of performance to the end of December 2019. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee welcomed Kate Allardyce, NHS Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning 
Support Unit, to the meeting for this item. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 

11



 
 

 

 

(i) The forecast for the number of permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and 
over) to residential and nursing care homes per 100,000 population, per year, had 
been revised down from the figure of 899 stated in the report and was now at 878. 
 

(ii) Whilst UHL reported 5 Never Events for the previous 12 months, Leicestershire 
Partnership NHS Trust reported that they had zero Never Events for this period and 
it was questioned whether the figure for LPT was correct. It was clarified that there 
was a list of types of incidents that would constitute Never Events to enable Trusts 
when reporting and LPT should be working from this list. Some trusts also reported 
serious incidents though there was no requirement to do so.  
 

(iii) The figures in the report for childhood obesity were taken from the year 2017/18, 
and the 2018/19 figures were expected to show improvement for Leicestershire due 
to an error in the data collection for 2017/18. 

 

(iv) Members expressed concern regarding the high proportion of Cancer Wait Metrics 
which were rag rated red and requested further detail on the reasons behind this.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the performance summary and issues identified be noted. 
 
(b) That officers be requested to provide a report for a future Committee meeting 

specifically in relation to Cancer Wait Metrics. 
 

52. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the next meeting of the Committee be held on 4 March 2020 at 2:00pm. 
 
 
 

      2.00  - 4.30 pm CHAIRMAN 
     15 January 2020 

 

12



 
 

 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4 MARCH 2020 
 

REPORT OF NHS ENGLAND AND NHS IMPROVEMENT - MIDLANDS 
 

DENTAL COMMISSIONING IN LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND 
RUTLAND 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the NHS dental services 

commissioned in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) and update on the 
current challenges and commissioning intentions to improve NHS dental services 
and oral health of the local population. 

 
 Background 

 
National Context 
 
2 NHS England became responsible for commissioning primary, community and 

secondary care dental services since April 2013. 
 
3 The government has made a commitment to oral health and dentistry with a drive 

to: 
 

 Improve the oral health of the population, particularly children; 

 Introduce a new NHS primary dental care contract; 

 Increase access to primary care dental services. 
 

4 NHS England’s clinical aim for each dental practice is to deliver high-quality NHS 
clinical services defined as: 
 
“patient-centred and value for money primary care dental services, delivered in a 
safe and effective manner, through a learning environment, which includes the 
continuing professional development of dentists and other dental professionals” 
 

5 NHS England and NHS Improvement has aligned to form seven new regional 
footprints.  The new regional footprints were introduced on 1 April 2019, however, 
the final phase 3 organisational change programme will be complete by 31 March 
2020.  During the transition period, an internal restructure process is being 
undertaken to align staff to the new structures to work across the new regional 
footprints with effect from 1 April 2020. The regional office covering Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland is within the Midlands Region. 
 

13 Agenda Item 8



 
 

Local Context 
 

6 The new Midlands region with have two localities which are West and East 
Midlands. The East Midlands locality covers Lincolnshire, Nottinghamshire, 
Derbyshire, Leicester City, Leicestershire, Rutland and Northamptonshire. The 
Primary Care Commissioning team structure includes a Primary Care Dental and 
Secondary Care/Intermediate Minor Oral Surgery & Community Services teams to 
cover the East Midlands locality. 
 

7 NHS England and NHS Improvement – Midlands is responsible for commissioning 
NHS primary, community and secondary care dental services.   
 

8 In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland there are 163 contracts providing NHS 
dental services: 
 

 125 providing general dental services (9 are restricted contracts, for example 
children under the age of 18 years, 19 years if in full-time education and/or 
exempt patients and 11 contracts which are restricted, for example, children 
only); 

 1 pilot contract providing general dental services; 

 13 providing general dental and orthodontic services; 

 7 providers providing orthodontic services; 

 7 providers providing orthodontic pathway services; 

 10 providers providing minor oral surgery services; 

 1 Special Care Dentistry Service provider. 
 

9 One provider is piloting a new prototype dental contract, which is testing a new 
remuneration system that blends activity and capitation (patient registration) 
aligning to financial and clinical drivers with a focus on prevention and continuing 
care.    
 

10 There are five practices based in Leicester city (x2), Loughborough, Melton 
Mowbray and Oakham, which provide access to urgent and routine care over 
extended hours, for example 8am to 8pm, 365 days a year including all Bank 
Holidays. The 8 to 8 practices provide routine care to regular patients and urgent 
care to patients without a regular dentist or to patients with an urgent need when 
their regular dentist practice is closed. 
 

11 The orthodontic pathway was originally commissioned as a pilot in 2008 to support 
reducing waiting times for patients who required specialist complex orthodontic 
treatment to support referrals into University Hospitals of Leicester, who had 
significant capacity pressures. The orthodontic pathway providers are specialists 
who assess all potential secondary care complex orthodontic referrals to determine 
if the case could be undertaken in primary care or referred them onto secondary 
care.  
 

12 Secondary dental care services providing specialist services: orthodontics, oral 
surgery, maxillofacial services and restorative services are delivered by University 
Hospitals of Leicester (UHL).   
 
 

14



 
 

 
NHS Dental Contract 

 
13 In April 2006, NHS dental providers were transferred over to the new NHS dental 

contract. The new dental contracts are activity based and providers are required to 
deliver an activity target each financial year.  General dental services contracts are 
monitored against delivery of their unit of dental activity (UDA) target and 
orthodontic contracts are monitored against delivery of their unit of orthodontic 
activity (UOA) target.  Specialist services delivered in primary care, such as minor 
oral surgery and orthodontic pathway are commissioned on a cost per case basis.     
 

14 Since April 2006, patients are no longer registered to a dental practice and are only 
attached to a dental practice when they are in an active course of treatment.  
However, practices usually hold a notional list to assist managing their capacity to 
provide dental services to regular patients/new patients seeking routine or urgent 
care. Practices’ capacity to take on new patients can vary and is dependent on a 
number of factors.  Patients can choose any geographical area to access services 
in NHS England and there are no restrictions on where patients can access NHS 
dental services. 
 

15 Patients will be advised by the dental practitioner on their recall interval based on 
The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) Clinical Guidance 
19 Dental Recall, October 2004. Dental recalls are determined by the patient's oral 
health and other factors for example age, diet, oral hygiene, fluoride use, tobacco 
and alcohol.  Recall rates for children up to age of 18 years can be every 3/6/9 or 12 
months and adult recall intervals can be every 3/6/9/12/15/18 months to 2 years.  It 
is important that young children (up to 2 years) attend a dentist for their first 
examination to commence monitoring their oral health.   
 

16 Patient charges were changed with the introduction of the new contract and these 
were simplified into three treatment bands.  NHS dental charges apply if a patient 
does not meet the exemption criteria. Patients will be charged for one completed 
course of treatment and the charge is determined by the treatment provided.  The 
patient charges are: 
 

Treatment 
Band 

Type of Treatment Patient 
Charge £ 

Band 1 This covers examinations, diagnosis (including radiographs), 
advice on how to prevent future problems, scale and polish if 
clinically necessary, and preventative care (e.g. applications 
of fluoride varnish or fissure sealant). This band also covers 
urgent dental care in a primary care dental practice such as 
pain relief or a temporary filling. 

22.70 

Band 2 This covers everything listed in Band 1, plus any further 
treatment such as fillings, root canal work or if your dentist 
needs to take out one or more of your teeth. 

62.10 

Band 3 This covers everything listed in Bands 1 and 2, plus crowns, 
dentures, bridges and other laboratory work. 

269.30 

 
Oral Health Needs Assessment  

 
17 In 2015/16, Public Health England has developed, in conjunction with NHS England 

Central Midlands Local Office, an Oral Health Needs Assessment (OHNA) for the 

15



 
 

North Locality covering Leicestershire, Rutland and Lincolnshire in consultation with 
the Local Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups.  The ONHA is based on a 
point in time, is based on NHS dental activity delivered in 2013/14 and relates to 
patients resident in an area.   
 

18 The OHNA reviews the demographics of the resident population, provision of 
services, and access to NHS dental services and makes recommendations for the 
commissioners to consider when developing the dental commissioning intentions to 
improve service provision. An access measure is used to determine the number of 
patients seen as a proportion of the resident population and access rates can be 
affected and influenced by many different factors, for example deprivation or  
prosperity of the resident population, lifestyle choices etc. It is important to note that 
a low access rate may not necessarily be solely due to a lack of provision as this 
can be affected by patient choice of accessing services outside the area or opting 
for private dental treatment.  The OHNA identifies access rates for children under 
the age of 18 years and adults by Local Authority (LA) and recommended to 
commissioners to consider improving access in the following areas: 
 

 Charnwood – Adults 

 Melton Mowbray – Adults 

 Rutland – Adults and Children 

 Leicester – Adults and Children 
 

19 The Local Office reviewed the outcomes of the OHNA along with other intelligence, 
which includes patient engagement and consultation feedback to develop the dental 
commissioning intentions. Any new contract has to be awarded via a procurement 
process to comply with dental contract regulations, competition and procurement 
law requirements.  
 

Dental Foundation Training  
 

20 All newly qualified dentists are required to complete a one year dental foundation 
training following completion of their dental degree. The Foundation Training 
process is managed by Health Education England. Foundation dentists are 
assigned to accredited dental practices and have an identified mentor to support 
them through their foundation training process. Funding is provided to cover the 
costs of the Foundation Dentist and funding to support the accredited mentor.   
Twenty-three out of the 26 training places across Leicestershire and Lincolnshire 
were secured within Leicestershire practices.   
 

Dental Commissioning Guides 

21 The Dental Commissioning Guides provide a standardised framework for the local 
commissioning of dental specialties. They provide guidance to regional teams on 
improving access to care, based on needs that are criterion referenced, with 
demonstrable high value health outcomes experienced by patients. 

22 Regional teams will work closely with the Managed Clinical Networks (MCN), the 
Regional Dental Public Health Consultants and Local Dental Network (LDN). The 
aim is to deliver the best patient journey possible, supported by mandatory 
specialist advice and/or access to care, that meets the needs of the local patient 

16



 
 

population whilst achieving the nationally expected standards of care provision 
within existing resources. 

23 The Dental Commissioning Guides have been developed nationally involving the 
dental profession and commissioners overseen by the Chief Dental Officer in 
England. The Dental Commissioning Guides published are: 

 Special Care Dentistry (Adults); 

 Orthodontics; 

 Oral Surgery and Oral Medicine; 

 Conscious Sedation in a Primary Care Setting; 

 Commissioning Standard for Peadiatric Dentistry. 

24 Commissioning Guides for Restorative Services are in development and publication 
has been delayed.    

Local Dental Network (LDN) 
 

25 The Local Dental Network (LDN) for Leicestershire and Lincolnshire was 
established in 2013. The main aims and objectives of the LDN are to: 
 
•  Provide robust and quality clinical input to the Local Office; 
•  Improve clinical outcomes; 
•  Address health inequalities; 
•  Putting the patient at the center of everything that we do; 
•  Engage with the Dental profession across the entire pathway. 
 

26 The LDN Steering Group develops work priorities each financial year and progress 
is monitored by NHS England and NHS Improvement - Midlands. The Steering 
Group has good engagement from the Oral and Dental health community, Health 
Education England, Public Health and Local Authorities, however, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups engagement has been a challenge.    
 

27 The LDN has secured non-recurrent funding to pilot improved access to 
interpretation services across the whole of the Leicestershire and Lincolnshire area 
from NHS England.  
 

28 There are a number of challenges that the LDN has identified within their work 
priorities and these relate to: 
 

 Improved access to Restorative Services; 

 Delivering prevention to families who have experienced extraction with 
General Anaesthetic for tooth decay; 

 Encourage the increase in foundation training practices in Lincolnshire; 

 Increasing the level of oral health promotion activities;  

 Implementation of “Healthy gums do matter” toolkit and increase the 
knowledge of the General Dental practitioner of the relevance of oral health 
on general health and potentially positively impacting on diabetes; 

 Improvement of the pathway for specialist dental care and supporting referral 
management systems; 

 Work in conjunction with Health Education England to develop the workforce;  

17



 
 

 
29 The LDN has established Managed Clinical Networks for Special Care Dentistry, 

Orthodontics, Minor Oral Surgery and Restorative to support delivering the work 
priorities, review commissioning guidance to improve patient pathways and patient 
outcomes. 
 

Joint Working with the Leicester City Local Authority on Oral Health Promotion 
 

30 Leicester City and Leicestershire County Councils became responsible for 
improving health and reducing inequalities for its local population from 1 April 
2013.   Local Authorities are responsible for commissioning oral health promotion 
programmes and epidemiology surveys.  The local councils have commissioned 
oral health promotion and epidemiology surveys.   
 

31 An Oral Health Alliance Group for Leicester city has been set up to facilitate joint 
working across the health community.  The group has developed a joint Strategic 
Action Plan for Oral Health Promotion in Leicester.  The aim of the strategic action 
plan is to improve oral health promotion for the Leicester city population and target 
identified priority patient groups, including; children at high risk of dental caries, 
those who have already required extractions under general anaesthetic for dental 
decay and older persons at higher risk of poor oral health.   Initiatives include 
Starting Well: A Smile4Life initiative and the Happy Teeth, Happy Smiles 
programme.  Future priorities include ensuring that all children referred for dental 
extractions follow an optimal pathway with prevention of further decay and primary 
care fluoride varnish application on children at the forefront of its aims. In addition, 
an oral health promotion strategy and action plan targeting children 0-4 years is in 
development. 
 

Starting Well : A Smile4Life Initiative 
 

32 In 2017 NHS England nationally introduced “Starting Well: A Smile4Life Initiative” to 
address the oral health of children in 13 areas deemed to have the worst children’s 
oral health in the country, Leicester City and Luton were highlighted in the Central 
Midlands DCO area.  
 

33 The Starting Well Programme is a time limited arrangement between NHS England 
and NHS Improvement and the Practice (the “Contractor”), commencing 1 February 
2018 to and due to conclude on 28 February 2020. The specification sets out 
expectations of the service provider in terms of quality and quantity as a Starting 
Well or Advanced Starting Well dental practice. There are 5 Preventative and 3 
Advanced practices delivering Starting Well in Leicester City. 
 

34 The programme of dental practice-based and community initiatives aims to support 
the reduction of oral health inequalities and improve oral health in children under 
the age of 5-years-old. 
 

35 The programme is available to all children (within contracted activity), with a focus 
on those who are not currently visiting the dentist and are under 1 year old, for 
evidence-based preventive advice about reducing sugar intake, improving oral 
hygiene and increasing the exposure to fluoride on teeth.  There will be patient and 
practice level interventions alongside work to strengthen relationships with local 
communities.   

18



 
 

 
36 The programme intends to complement existing local NHS England and NHS 

Improvement and Local Authority led initiatives and to complement the work of the 
Child Oral Health Improvement Programme Board and dental contract reform.   
 

37 The programme sits as part of a range of interventions that local health and social 
care economies responsible for children’s oral health need to put in place.  
Guidance from Public Health England and the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) describe evidence-based population level interventions to 
improve oral health such as water fluoridation that complement this practice based 
initiative. The programme is delivered through Starting Well Dental Practices.   

 
38 NHS England and NHS Improvement is a partner of the Leicester, Leicestershire 

and Rutland Oral Health Promotion Partnership Board and one of the initiatives of 
the Board is the Healthy Teeth, Happy Smiles!  
 

39 As part of the work of “Healthy Teeth, Happy Smiles!” Starting Well practices were 
required to engage with the Dental Practice Accreditation Pilot Scheme. The 
Practices were required to register as an Associate member of the scheme and 
gain Full membership by meeting the standards for the Healthy Teeth, Happy 
Smiles! Dental Practice accreditation, administered by Leicester City Council, within 
12 months of the date of the contract variation for the Starting Well programme.  
Their scheme is currently being evaluated to determine future commissioning 
arrangements. 

 
40 NHS England and NHS Improvement is currently evaluating the impact of the 

Starting Well programme locally for Leicester city while a wider, national, evaluation 
is awaited. Local evaluation will inform the decision regarding the future of the 
programme. 
 

General Dental Services Procurement  
 

41 Commissioning intentions were developed in line with Oral Health Needs 
Assessment and agreed to invest into improving access to urgent and routine 
dental care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  
 

42 The previous dental urgent care and dental out of hours service contracts delivered 
from Leicester for the county came to a natural end in December 2017.  A service 
review identified that further investment was required to improve access to urgent 
and routine dental care.  In 2017, five 8 to 8 practices were commissioned to 
replace the dental urgent care and dental out of hours service and the new services 
have been established in key areas identified in the oral health needs assessment 
to improve access. 
 

43 In addition, new investment was also secured to procure a new general dental 
service in Leicester city (Evington Ward).  The new contract provides extended 
access and commenced delivering services on 1 December 2017. 
 

44 A procurement process was undertaken in 2018 to recommission activity returned 
to the commissioner in Leicester city (Evington Ward).  However, due to poor 
quality bids, no preferred bidder was identified. 
 

19



 
 

45 In 2019, a revised procurement process was undertaken to recommission activity 
and preferred bidders were identified for the Leicester city (Evington Ward) and 
Melton Mowbray. The new contracts are scheduled to commence on 1 March 2020. 

 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Special Care Dentistry Service 

 
46 The commissioner undertook a procurement process in 2017 to commission the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Special Care Dentistry Service. The service 
is concerned with the provision of dental care and enabling the improvement of oral 
health of individuals and groups in society who have a physical, sensory, 
intellectual, mental, medical, emotional or social impairment or disability or, more 
often a combination of a number of these factors.  As such care will be provided to 
patients who have a need beyond the skill set and facilities of a general dental 
practitioner. 
 

47 The Special Care Dentistry Service also provides dental treatment under general 
anaesthesia in secondary care sites with access to critical care facilities for children 
who require multiple extractions, for children with complex health needs who 
require restorative treatment or for children when it is not possible to provide dental 
care using alternative treatments methods and for adults with special needs that 
impacts upon their ability to co-operate. 
 

48 The service provides a Pain and Anxiety Management service for adults with 
severe anxiety or phobia and domiciliary care for house bound patients.   
 

49 The service is delivered from five community clinics across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. Services continue to be provided from the same clinic 
sites as previous, with existing staff transferred to the new contracting 
arrangements to protect service continuity.  
 

Orthodontics Services 
 

50 Orthodontics is the dental specialty concerned with facial growth, development of 
the dentition and occlusion, and the assessment, diagnosis, interception and 
treatment of malocclusions and facial irregularities.  
 

51 Orthodontic treatment is undertaken in situations where it is believed to be in the 
patient’s best interests in terms of their oral health and/ or psychosocial wellbeing. 
In all situations, the clinical advantages and long-term benefits of Orthodontic 
treatment should justify such treatment and outweigh any detrimental effects. 
 

52 In 2006, Department of Health guidance was issued to support the implementation 
of the new dental contract for specialist services and recommended that Primary 
Care Trusts, who were the commissioner at that time, award a time limited (5 year) 
PDS Agreement for Orthodontic Services. This was followed by an extension of 
contracts until the Orthodontic Commissioning Guide was published in September 
2015 and was followed by an extension to the existing contract arrangements to 
maintain access and continuity of care. These were ultimately extended as part of 
the nationally agreed extension of contracts to 31st March 2019, or beyond, 
depending on the Regional timeline for procurements. The current PDS orthodontic 
agreements are due to expire on 26 June 2020. 
 

20



 
 

53 The regional teams across England have been working towards commissioning new 
orthodontic services since September 2015. The local teams have been undertaking 
a process of refreshing public health orthodontic needs assessments, strategic 
planning, setting out commissioning intentions, undertaking patient consultations, 
and then progressing with the procurement processes. 
 

54 As part of this process, and given a course of orthodontic treatment ranges from 18 
months to 3 years in some cases, national contracting and payment arrangements 
have been established to support continuity of care for patients during this 
procurement period. 
 

55 The service being commissioned and procured is to deliver orthodontic treatment to 
those patients up to the age of 18 years old who meet the eligibility criteria. The 
service is aimed at those patients who require orthodontic procedures outside the 
remit of general dental practitioners or hospital services. The overall aim is to 
provide equitable, accessible, high quality and cost effective specialist Orthodontic 
Service in line with the National Guide for Commissioning Orthodontics, 2015 and 
NHS Personal Dental Service Contracts (Regulations 2005) and any subsequent 
revisions. 
 

56 Regions had phased procurements in stages, the Midlands and East Regions were 
the last region to commence a Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System in 2018/19.  
 

57 The procurement was progressing and moving to preferred provider status 
outcomes in areas of the former Midlands and East regions, however the Midlands 
and East Regions recently made the decision to abandon the procurement. 
 

58 The reason for the abandonment of all batches was that, having very carefully 
reviewed this process in detail and after receiving legal advice, NHS England 
decided that it was unable to make an assured, unequivocal award. Issues were 
identified in the scoring of the bids and how the process dealt with multiple bids from 
the same/similar providers. Existing incumbent providers have received 
communications from NHS England and NHS Improvement – Midlands regarding 
extensions to current contracts advising the contract will be extended until 31 March 
2022. 
 

59 The new regional teams in the Midlands and East are currently considering the 
options to re-procure the services.  The timescales for this are not yet agreed and 
any announcements concerning any future procurement process for the provision of 
these services will be made accessible to all potential suppliers.  
 

60 The NHS England and NHS Improvement National team is planning an exercise 
exploring lessons to be learnt from the orthodontic procurement and intends to 
commence this process in the Midlands and East Region in early 2020. All key 
stakeholder views will be captured at that time 

  

21



 
 

Secondary Care Dental Services 
 
61 University Hospitals of Leicester are contracted to provide specialist dental services: 

orthodontics, oral surgery and restorative services. In addition, the trust orthodontic 
consultants also provide cleft palate services.  The trust is accepting referrals for 
restorative and oral surgery.  However, due to ongoing capacity and recruitment 
issues, the orthodontic referral list remains closed.  University Hospitals Leicester 
are accepting orthodontic multi-disciplinary cases where there is no alternative for 
the patient to access services elsewhere, however, these are a small number of 
cases each year.  University Hospitals of Leicester is developing an orthodontic 
business case for NHS England and NHS Improvement – Midlands consideration in 
the new financial year. 

 
62  Orthodontic consultant recruitment has been identified as a national issue and 

regionally recruitment is challenging.  
 
Dental Recruitment and Retention 
 
63 All dentists delivering services as part of an NHS contract are required to be 

registered with the General Dental Council and need to be included onto the 
national performer list to ensure that they are suitably qualified and trained to deliver 
NHS dental services. 

 

64 Nationally dental recruitment and retention is becoming an increasing pressure and 
it has also been identified as a local issue particularly across Lincolnshire, however, 
this is now being experienced by Leicestershire providers.   As part of the LDN work 
programme a survey across providers/performers in the north locality has been 
undertaken to understand the current position.  The survey has identified that 
providers are experiencing difficulties in recruiting/retaining dentists and the survey 
results have identified that providers believe this is attributed to salary/remuneration, 
location and working unsociable hours. 

 
65 One of the challenges which may have impacted on the recruitment of dentists, was 

the delays experienced to be included onto the national performer list undertaken 
by Primary Care Support England.  To improve the dental performer list inclusion 
process, a national working intensive expert management team was established to 
support with the processing of applications and to reduce the application 
timescales. 

 
66 Health Education England and partners have worked at a national level to finalise a 

Performers List by Validation of Experience (PLVE) process and this was rolled out 
in 2017.  The PLVE process is to enable non-EU qualified dentists to be assessed 
by Health Education England to determine that they have the knowledge and 
experience equivalent to that of a dental practitioner who has satisfactorily 
completed foundation training. This will enable providers across the North locality to 
access a PLVE scheme to support with recruiting dentists outside the EU area. 
 

67 Health Education England officially launched the PLVE process for the East 
Midlands on 1 January 2018.  The regional office are accepting performer list 
applications from non-EU dentists to manage the process to validate inclusion onto 
the performers list so this can be managed in parallel. There are currently several 
applications in process.  

22



 
 

 
68 In addition to the PLVE process, the regional office is exploring other ways of how 

to improve recruitment and retention of NHS dentists into the Lincolnshire area and 
lessons learned will be shared across the region. 
 

69 NHS England and NHS Improvement - Midlands continues to work closely with 
Health Education England to develop training programmes to support developing 
the dental workforce e.g. dental hygienists, therapists and dentists.  

 
Future Commissioning Intentions to Improve Access to General Dental Services 
 
70 NHS England and NHS Improvement – Midlands remains fully committed to 

ensuring patients have access to NHS dental services and continue to work to 
improve provision of dental services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. As the 
regional office transitions into the new structures, further work will be undertaken to 
review commissioning intentions regarding access to NHS dental services. Further 
updates can be provided on future plans. 
 

Conclusions 
 
71 The Health Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the contents of the report and to 

consider and comment on the content of the report. 
 
Background papers 
 
72 None. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
73 Not applicable. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title  Tom Bailey, Senior Contract Manager Primary Care 
Telephone:   07876 852 202 
Email:    t.bailey1@nhs.net  
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
74 Full consideration is given to the impact on patients and their rights to access to 

NHS dental services when reviewing commissioning intentions, contract changes 
eg opening hours and commissioning new services. 

 

23

mailto:t.bailey1@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4 MARCH 2020 
 

REPORT OF LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUPS 

 
THE ROLE AND FORM OF A SINGLE STRATEGIC 

COMMISSIONER FOR AN INTEGRATED CARE 
SYSTEM IN LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND 

RUTLAND 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on the options for forming a single strategic commissioner for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
2. Changes in the organisation of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) across the 

country is being driven by increased financial pressures, the move to more system 
working, and a much clearer view from NHS England that CCGs should work ‘at 
scale’ across Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) areas. 
 

Background 
 
3. On 30 May 2018 the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report 

from the CCGs which proposed the appointment of a single accountable officer (AO) 
and creation of a shared management team for the CCGs. The reasons given in the 
report for making further changes were as follows: 

 
• System Change – In response to increased demands, workforce challenges 
and diminishing resources, the NHS must adapt.  Significant service change 
will be required to deliver the NHS Five Year Forward View, through STP 
plans, with the development of new models of care and an enhanced focus on 
keeping people healthy.  As a result, commissioning needs to be realigned to 
work at scale, to deliver the leadership capacity and capability required to 
support the necessary strategic change of health services across LLR.  
 
• Strengthened Commissioning – A single consistent commissioning voice 
offers the opportunity to realign capacity, and build capability, around major 
service transformation and develop stronger collaboration between partners 
and with other stakeholders. 

25 Agenda Item 9



 

 
• Improved Efficiency – Greater collaboration and integration between 
commissioning organisations at an LLR level is likely to provide opportunities 
for economies of scale that will allow us to free up and redeploy management 
capacity to support the delivery of key transformational priorities. 
 

4. In December 2018 the CCGs collectively took a decision to appoint a single 
accountable officer and Andy Williams was subsequently appointed moving from 
carrying out a similar role at Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG. 
 

5. The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 identifies local Integrated Care 
Systems (ICS) as the way forward and it is expected that there will be one strategic 
commissioning voice for each ICS, typically in the form of a single clinical 
commissioning group (CCG). 

 
Proposals 

 
6. No decisions on the future form of a single strategic commissioner have yet been 

made but, having undertaken an initial assessment of the options, there is a 
preference to work towards the creation of a new single CCG for LLR. 

 
7. The options which have been considered for a single strategic commissioner are set 

out in the appendix to this report.  
 
Timescales 
 
8. The existing CCGs and their partners need to work quickly to ensure an ICS is in 

place by April 2021 in line with national requirements. It is anticipated that any new 
arrangements for commissioning will need to be put in place in advance of this. 

  
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title: Andy Williams, Chief Executive  
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs 
Email: andy.williams12@nhs.net 
 
Name and Job Title: Richard Morris, Director of Operations and Corporate Affairs, 
Leicester City CCG 
Telephone: 0116 295 0741 
Email: richard.morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
The Role and Form of a Single Strategic Commissioner for an Integrated Care System in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
9. All management of change processes are undertaken in accordance with CCG 

human resource policies that have been impact assessed.  

26



A partnership between:
• East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
• Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group
• West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

The role and form of a single strategic 
commissioner for an Integrated Care 

System in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland

December 2019

27



Page 2

Introduction and executive summary 01

The NHS Long Term Plan aims to establish a health service fit for the future. Its ambition is to give 
everyone the best start in life, deliver world-class care for major health problems such as cancer 
and heart disease, and help people age well.

The plan, published by the Government in January 2019, identifies local Integrated Care Systems 
(ICS) as the way forward. These build upon existing Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 
footprints to bring together NHS organisations in collaboration with local authorities and others 
such as the voluntary and community sector, to take collective responsibility for managing 
resources, delivering NHS standards and improving the health of the population they serve. 

As part of these arrangements there will be one strategic commissioning voice for each ICS, 
typically in the form of a single clinical commissioning group (CCG). It is expected that an ICS will 
be in place in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) by April 2021.

The three CCGs in LLR currently have responsibility for commissioning the majority of health 
services for the local population. We are working with our partners to determine what an ICS looks 
like in LLR and a key part of this is considering how best to form a single strategic commissioner 
locally. 

No decisions on the future form of a single strategic commissioner have yet been made but, 
having undertaken an initial assessment of the options, we do have a current preference to work 
towards the creation of a new single CCG for LLR. 

We believe this is likely to be the most effective solution to help us deliver improved care and 
outcomes for patients across our whole area, allow for targeted resource allocation to tackle health 
need and inequalities, and enable the system to become financially sustainable.  

This is because the system as it is currently configured naturally means that the majority of our 
financial resources tend to land with our acute hospitals, with an emphasis on supporting people to 
recover when they become unwell. 

Changing the way that the system works through the creation of an ICS and the coming together 
of the three existing CCGs as one new strategic commissioning organisation gives us the greatest 
opportunity to redirect resources to others services – such as general practice and community 
services. 

This will allow a greater focus on preventing ill health and managing long-term health conditions 
proactively to keep people well and out of hospital wherever possible.

Fundamentally the development of an Integrated Care System - which would operate at the three 
levels of system (LLR), place (existing upper tier local authorities) and neighbourhood (emerging 
Primary Care Network geographies) – is very different to the way in which the local NHS has 
worked over the last two decades.

At its heart the new system represents a move away from the competition between NHS providers, 
which has prevailed over the last two decades. Whilst these arrangements have helped the NHS 
make good progress against some key challenges such as excessive waiting times, they have 
often led to patients being caught between organisations and their priorities, with patients’ care or 
experience suffering as a result. 

28



Page 3

In this context the role of the strategic commissioner will be significantly different to that of existing 
CCGs. No longer will the focus be on specifying the way in which services are delivered in a 
particular area, or procuring and monitoring individual contracts. 

Instead the focus will be on taking a whole-system view of the requirements of the patient 
population based on known needs and health inequalities, and setting clear expected outcome 
improvements for those groups. It will also be responsible for allocating resources to providers, 
who will operate collaboratively at existing upper tier local authority levels, and in partnership with 
statutory Health and Wellbeing Boards, to decide upon the best approaches to delivering those 
desired outcomes, based on a detailed local knowledge of their populations. 

The strategic commissioner will be accountable for the money we receive from Government and 
how we spend it, whilst monitoring delivery of outcomes across the whole system so as to ensure 
that our investment is making the intended difference. It will also be responsible for engaging with 
populations and involving them in decisions about local services and the care they receive. These 
are all things that we believe can be best achieved by working at scale with one organisation 
rather than multiple, while also enabling us to deliver operational savings that can be reinvested 
back into frontline services.

It is believed that working in this new way is most likely to provide the opportunity to make the 
most of every pound available to us. Whilst we expect spend to increase in every part of the 
system over the coming years, working as one single CCG would enable us to rigorously prioritise 
how we allocate our discretionary spend in a way that has not been possible before and has the 
potential to be genuinely transformative.

In doing so it would allow us to create a new type of commissioning organisation that has this 
commitment to addressing health inequalities and unwanted variation inscribed at its heart through 
its constitution, as well as being writ large into the organisation’s mission, its vision for the future, 
and the values by which it operates.

The vision for an ICS in LLR is still under development, with plans evolving and being shaped by 
our current partnership arrangements under Better Care Together. 

This document therefore sets out our current thinking about the LLR ICS and the benefits 
and opportunities presented by developing a single strategic commissioning organisation. We 
recognise that it does not contain all of the answers at this stage. However, it provides partners 
and stakeholders with an opportunity to share thoughts on the future of NHS commissioning 
arrangements in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. These will be used to shape and finalise 
our proposals in advance of formal consultation on the matter during 2020.

“We are working with our partners to determine what an ICS looks 
like in LLR and a key part of this is considering how best to form a 

single strategic commissioner locally.“

29



Page 4

The proposal 02

Why do we need to change?

The NHS and our partners face significant challenges in meeting rising demand from a 
growing, ageing population, with increases in the number of people with complex and long-
term conditions. We are also faced with increasing costs of services and challenges in effective 
collaborative working, when trying to manage finances without simply moving the problem 
around the system. These issues have put the health and care system in LLR under extreme 
pressure. It is clear that our current hospital-based model of care cannot meet this rising demand 
effectively or efficiently. This can be seen in the:

• Health and wellbeing of local people - early death rates in some conditions, differences 
 in life e xpectancies, smoking and obesity rates, and the mixed availability of healthcare
 close t  o home.

• Quality of care - hospitals and community healthcare providers are struggling to keep up  
 with  demand and, as a result, the quality of care suffers. For example, waits for cancer
 treatm ent, ambulances, A&E and mental health care are too long.

• Finance and funding - increasing costs are exacerbated by inefficient buildings,    
 difficulties in recr uiting and retaining staff and friction between NHS organisations and 
           local author ities.  In addition, current ways of working stifle a collaborative approach to
 manag ing health and care funding.  This forces the system to manage budgets on an
 organi sation rather than system basis, culminating in commissioners and providers
 ‘shiftin g’ financial problems around the system rather than tackling and controlling them to
 deliver  financial balance as a whole system.

If we do not take further action now to extend our service transformation plans, then services will 
decline and our service models, financial plans, workforce plans, buildings and technology will 
not be able to sustain services adequately for the future.

Locally we have been on a journey to tackle these issues for some time, driven by our LLR 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership - Better Care Together. 

The NHS Long Term Plan, published in January 2019, provides further impetus through the 
requirement to develop a local Integrated Care System. This emphasises the need to break 
down artificial barriers that have been built up between NHS organisations over many years and 
increasingly focus on networks of NHS and other care providers working together to proactively 
manage the health of the populations they serve.

These arrangements will build on existing partnership plans to deliver the changes needed 
locally to achieve better health, care and outcomes for local people. 

30



Page 5

What is an integrated care system?

An integrated care system is a way of working collaboratively between a range of health and care 
organisations to help improve people’s health and deliver local health services. In and of itself an 
ICS is not about creating a new organisation or organisations. Instead it is an enhanced set of 
partnership arrangements that allow the NHS and others to work together and share budgets, staff 
and resources, where appropriate, in order to best meet people’s needs. 

It will do this in conjunction with local authorities and others, such as the voluntary and community 
sector, to understand populations and their health in detail and deliver holistic services that wrap 
around the needs of the patient.

An integrated care system operates at three levels:

“These arrangements will build on existing partnership plans to 
deliver the changes needed locally to achieve better health, care and 

outcomes for local people.”

31



Page 6

What does this look like in LLR?

The proposals for an ICS in LLR have been developed over recent months and with involvement 
from NHS organisations, local authorities and representatives from local Healthwatch 
organisations. Their foundations lie in the learning and experience from our partnership working 
over a much longer period and from considering best practice elsewhere. Importantly, we have 
also used insights from members of the public and patients gathered under the Better Care 
Together programme to help shape our proposals. 

System 

The overall footprint for our local ICS is Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR), which mirrors 
our current Sustainability and Transformation Partnership – Better Care Together. For NHS 
organisations it will become the level at which they will be jointly held to account. There will be 
collective responsibility across NHS organisational boundaries for financial delivery, via an NHS 
system control total for LLR, and operational performance. 

The system footprint will be used as the basis on which national NHS resources will be 
increasingly allocated and accessed for each ICS, including allocations for NHS capital and 
technology funding.  

This is also the level at which strategic commissioning within the NHS will operate. In strategic 
commissioning the focus is on agreeing priorities, focussing on patient experience and outcomes, 
understanding health needs of the whole population and ensuring overarching governance of tax-
payers money.

This move towards developing a single set of strategic commissioning arrangements marks a 
significant change to the current role and form of the CCGs. It shifts from the traditional model of 
commissioning as recognised and understood for the last 20 years to one with a greater focus 
on making shared decisions with providers on how to best use resources, design services and 
improve population health. 

32



Page 7

Working together with our partners, at system level, the strategic commissioner will:

• Be accountable to NHS England and NHS Improvement for the overall performance of the  
 NHS in  LLR
• Analyse and understand population health and care needs across LLR’s one million-plus  
 popula tion, and set and measure outcomes at the LLR system level that addresses known
 health inequalities and unwanted variation
• Lead the response to the NHS Long Term Plan in LLR
• Lead the overall strategic direction for the Better Care Together programme
• Understand where to allocate NHS resources to ‘places’ or the care alliance(s) in line with  
 need id entified, for example as a result of heath inequalities
• Support local NHS providers to form a local NHS care alliance(s), and in due course
 commission certain services via the NHS care alliance(s)
• Take ownership and demonstrate leadership in addressing local system challenges.

Place – upper tier local authority boundaries (Leicester City Council, 
Leicestershire County Council, Rutland County Council)

At this level NHS providers will work with upper tier local authorities and other partners to:

• Be active partners in leadership at place level, in particular via local authority-led Health   
 and W ellbeing Boards in LLR
• Collaborate with local authorities and other partners on the wider determinants for health  
 and we llbeing, so that the health and wellbeing needs of local populations, including
 popula tion specific health inequalities, are understood and addressed, and place-based
  outcomes are improved
• Ensure that the LLR-wide Better Care Together strategy, outcomes and priorities meet with  
 expect ations and priorities in each LLR place
• Design and deliver integrated health and care services within the place including the Better  
 Care F und services
• Develop and implement the place-based prevention offer 
• Undertake joint commissioning across NHS and local authority organisations, using pooled  
 budget s where applicable.

For NHS organisations this will also be the level at which budgets are likely to be set and 
distributed by the NHS strategic commissioner and at which population outcome requirements will 
need to be delivered. 

At a place level, NHS organisations will work with upper tier local authorities and other NHS 
partners to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for their specific populations. Where 

33



Page 8

appropriate, they will also integrate the delivery and commissioning of health and care. Critical at 
this level will be the interface with the Health and Wellbeing Board, which will drive forward the 
localised delivery of improvements within the overall context of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for that area.

A key component of this level of the ICS will be care alliance(s), which will bring together hospitals, 
community services and primary care networks to deliver the care needed for local populations, 
based on assessments of local need determined and directed by Health and Wellbeing Boards, 
supported by public health insight, at local authority level. Social care may also choose to be part 
of the care alliance(s) should it so wish.

Care Alliance(s)

Within LLR we have two main local NHS providers - University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, 
which provides acute hospital-based care, and Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust, which 
provides community, mental health and learning disability services. These are supported by 
around 120 general practices, which are at the frontline of health provision and are usually the first 
point of contact for patients.

At a regional level we have two main providers in East Midlands Ambulance Service, our 
emergency transport provider, and DHU Health Care, a provider of primary, out-of-hours and 
urgent care services. The newly formed primary care networks are also provider organisations.

Although there has been a tradition to date, through our Better Care Together programme, to plan 
and redesign services across partners, provision has been focused on individual organisations. 
We believe that in order to meet our challenges a new approach is needed and more collaboration 
between providers is required. 

To deliver this we will develop an NHS care alliance(s) across LLR. Work is ongoing to develop 
this, but it is likely to have a core membership of our main local NHS providers including our 
primary care networks. Other NHS providers, including those outside of LLR but who provide 
services to our patients, will need to consider whether they formally become part of the 
arrangement or want to be partners collaborating where it makes sense to do so. Local authorities 
and other providers such as the voluntary sector are likely to be organisations with which the 
care alliance(s) will work collaboratively to deliver some services, particularly at place and 
neighbourhood level. Diagrams showing how this would work are shown on page 9.

The final crucial component of care alliance(s) and the ICS, will be the primary care networks 
across LLR. 

Neighbourhood – primary care networks

Neighbourhoods are the cornerstone of integrated care across LLR. They are based on 25 
groups of GP practices, known as Primary Care Networks (PCNs). These networks, which were 
established on 1 July 2019, will be the focal point for delivery at the place level - working closely 
with social care and many other agencies to coordinate and manage care close to home for 
populations of 30-50,000 patients.

PCNs will be expected to provide a wider range of primary care services to patients, involving 
a wider set of staff roles than might be feasible in individual practices. They will also be the 
footprint around which integrated community-based teams will develop. Community and mental 
health services will be expected to configure their services around PCN boundaries as far as is 
practicably possible.

34



Page 9

Current contracting arrangements:

Contracting under a care alliance:

35



Page 10

Primary Care Networks will 
primarily be focused on service 
delivery, rather than on the 
planning and funding of services. 
This responsibility will remain with 
commissioners at a system level, 
supported by local authorities and 
the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
where a more localised approach is 
needed.

However, PCNs are expected to be 
the building blocks around which 
integrated care systems are built. 
The ambition is that they will be the 
mechanism by which primary care 
representation is made stronger in 
integrated care systems, with the 
clinical directors from each network 
being the link between general 
practice and the wider system.

A core role of PCNs will be to 
deliver against seven core national 
asks, which are set out as a series of service specifications.

Five will start by April 2020. These include: providing structured medication reviews for patients, 
delivering enhanced health in care homes, putting in place anticipatory care plans which help 
patients to make informed decisions about how and where they want to be treated and supported 
in the future, personalised care to support patients to have choice and control over the way their 
current care is delivered, and supporting early cancer diagnosis.

Two others will start by 2021. These include cardiovascular disease case finding and locally 
agreed action to tackle health inequalities (for which the Health and Wellbeing Board will take the 
lead role).

In summary, PCNs will:

• Understand their specific neighbourhood population health and care needs
• Deliver effective and consistent core general practice services, working collaboratively where  it 
  makes sense to do so
• Deliver enhanced primary care services either as individual practices or across a primary c are
  n etwork that enables patients to receive care closer to home - this may include some outpati ent 
  and diagnostics
• Design and deliver integra ted health and care service s with a range of partne rs (including social
  care a nd the NHS care allianc e(s)) to meet the ne eds of the population
• Develop a fully functioning integra ted team or network of prim ary and community care st aff, 
  aligned with social  care and other commu nity-based service s, to support citizen s with the most 
  comple x needs to stay as indepe ndent, and as close to hom e, for as long as  possibl e.

36



Page 11

What do we want to achieve through an ICS?

Ultimately we want better health, care and outcomes along with reduced health inequalities for the 
people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

As part of an integrated care system, we believe there will be greater clarity of vision and purpose, 
and the speed of decision making and service transformation across the NHS in LLR should 
improve. It will also help to improve the quality and performance of the services provided, as well 
as the experiences of patients.

With the NHS moving away from the existing commissioner vs provider arrangements, we also 
believe the ICS will enable better collaboration and integration between NHS partners, and with 
other agencies in LLR where appropriate. 

It will enable us to focus not only on outcomes associated with improved health and care service 
delivery, but also those outcomes that are concerned with the wider determinants of population 
health and wellbeing. The ICS will have a number of positive implications for population health 
outcomes. The diagram below outlines the benefits that an ICS will bring for our population, how 
this will be achieved and how our population will notice the difference. 

37



Page 12

An ICS will ensure that all partners collaborate to improve health outcomes for the entire 
population and utilise our available resources to tackle health inequalities. It will remove traditional 
organisational barriers and ensure all partners work collaboratively to deliver excellent patient 
care. 

As a result, our patients will benefit from:
• More integrated joined up care 
• New services to support improved health outcomes 
• Improved access to services 
• Improved joint working across health and local authorities to tackle the wider determinants  
 of heal th and wellbeing 
• Improved quality of care. 

What is clear from our work so far is that these benefits and outcomes can only be achieved by 
taking a unified partnership approach, both in terms of how care is co-ordinated and delivered, and 
how it is commissioned. This is why the role of the single strategic commissioner will be vital in the 
ultimate success of an ICS in LLR. 

Developing a new single strategic commissioning 
function for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

Our current arrangements and the challenges they present

The three local CCGs – Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland 
– were formed in April 2013 taking over responsibility from former Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) 
for planning, paying for, and monitoring local health services. These were new organisations 
combining the expertise of local family doctors with NHS managers, putting local doctors and 
nurses at the heart of deciding which health services to provide and where and how they would be 
provided.

Each CCG is led by a Governing Body. All general practices in a CCG area are members of that 
CCG and have clinical representatives elected to their respective governing bodies. The CCG 

What is a CCG and what do they do?

Clinical Commissioning Groups do not provide health services. Instead they are responsible for 
planning and commissioning health care services for their local area with resources delegated to 
them by NHS England. They are accountable to NHS England, and Parliament, for how they use 
these resources and the results they achieve.

Commissioning is about getting the best possible health outcomes for the local population. This 
involves assessing local needs, deciding priorities and strategies, and then buying services on 
behalf of the population from providers such as hospitals, community health providers and GPs 
among others. 

CCGs must constantly respond and adapt to changing local circumstances. They are responsible 
for the health of the entire population, and measured by how much they improve outcomes for 
patients.

38



Page 13

membership retains the authority to set the strategy and direction for the organisation and to hold 
their governing body to account.

CCGs are responsible for commissioning services including:
• Planned hospital care
• Rehabilitative care
• Urgent and emergency care (including out-of-hours)
• Most community health services
• Mental health and learning disability services.

The CCGs also have delegated authority from NHS England for commissioning general practice 
primary care services.

The three CCGs in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland have a history of successful partnership 
working. The organisations have worked together to commission many services since their 
inception in 2013. This particularly included collaborative commissioning of contracts for our main 
providers – University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust and Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust. 
These arrangements were supported by hosted teams, whereby groups of staff were employed by 
one of our CCGs but worked across and on behalf of all three. 

However, while our CCGs have performed well against national indicators – all three were rated as 
‘Good’ in the national Improvement and Assessment Framework for CCGs in 2018/19 – there have 
remained a number of significant issues.

For example, the relatively small sizes of the existing CCGs mean that they can lack resilience, 
while progress has all-too-often been stifled by less than ideal joined-up working. This is 
evidenced by times when differentiated decision making by the three governing bodies has led to 
increased variation and inequality for patients across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, rather 
than reduce it. 

Indeed, current arrangements are confusing for patients and particularly our partners. Patients 
often do not understand who they should be talking to about issues affecting their care. Within 
LLR we have one acute provider and one major mental health and community services provider. 
However, under existing arrangements these organisations have often been frustrated and 
confused by different and sometimes competing priorities of the three existing CCGs.

Individual CCGs also means individual financial allocations. While this may be perceived by some 
to be a positive, spending on services across the three CCGs is variable and is often driven by 
the historic variation in funding per head of population. This means that our CCGs are in different 
financial positions.

While up until now organisations have only been held to account for delivery of their own financial 
performance, there is increasingly a move towards holding all NHS partners – both commissioners 
and providers – to account for delivery as a whole system. This means it will no longer be enough 
for individual organisations to take steps to manage their own financial performance to the 
detriment of others within the system.

Meanwhile there is still considerable duplication and sometimes triplication between organisations 
and there are limitations to what we can do collectively in our current form, with some statutory 
functions unable to be delegated. 

39



Page 14

Progress towards a single strategic commissioner

The three CCGs are currently considering the future form of the commissioning organisations, in 
light of the development of an LLR ICS and the need to ensure a single strategic commissioning 
voice. 

In December 2018 we collectively took the decision to appoint a single accountable officer and 
management team to oversee the running of the three organisations. The new joint accountable 
officer has begun and work is ongoing to appoint a single team of executive directors. This is likely 
to be completed during early 2020. 

From October 2019 enhanced joint governance arrangements have begun to be put in place 
across the three CCGs. These will enable more consistent and streamlined decision-making, but 
they still have limitations. This is because there are some functions that cannot be delegated.

We are now approaching a point where we need to finalise future organisational form to determine 
how strategic commissioning will be delivered within the context of the LLR ICS. Listening to our 
stakeholders is a crucial part of this process and we are keen to hear views on our proposals. 

40



Page 15

The options which have been considered for a single strategic commissioner include:

We have considered a number of key factors in appraising these options. These include: 

• the ability of the option to improve health outcomes for patients, preserve and improve 
relationships and facilitate effective working

• give long term resilience, stability and permanence
• improve financial position and provide economies of scale
• reduce duplication and provide value for money
• maintain political oversight, improved reporting and pooling of clinical expertise.

41



Page 16

Geographical areas covered by the four options

One new CCG Two CCGs within a federation

Three existing CCGs within a federation Three CCGs within a federation

42



Page 17

Options for a single strategic commissioner in LLR

The options in more detail

Summary of key advantages Summary of key disadvantages

Creation of a new single 
CCG for LLR, creating 
a unified commissioning 
approach and set of 
leadership arrangements

• Impr oved consistency
of working, creating a single 
LLR approach
• provides opportunity 
to align resources internally 
based on agreed priorities and 
population health need
• allows more effective 
partnership work within the 
STP footprint, including with 
NHS England/Improvement, 
on areas outside of CCGs’ 
current scope e.g. specialised 
commissioning
• more sustainable 
and substantially reduces 
duplication as there would be 
one, rather than two or three, 
statutory bodies
• best chance to address 
the financial position in LLR 
• single legal entity for 
providers and local authorities 
to engage with, providing a 
strong commissioner voice
• single set of reporting 
and policy approaches would 
bring consistency for the 
people of the city and counties
• clinical skills and 
expertise would be available 
throughout the area, including 
specialisms
• opportunities will exist 
for maintained focus on local 
authority place level through 
the development of care 
alliance(s) and capitated place 
level budgets
• ability to move collective 
resource to area of need  

• move to a more consistent 
way of working across LLR, which 
could lead to a perceived loss of 
localism and/or focus on local ‘place’
• potential for arrangements 
to be seen as being more ‘distant’ 
from local authorities and member 
practices
• loss of financial allocations 
at an individual CCG level, and 
potential reduction in associated 
flexibility to allocate resources 
accordingly

43



Page 18

Summary of key advantages Summary of key disadvantages

Retain the current CCG 
for Leicester City and 
create a new CCG 
for Leicestershire and 
Rutland. These two 
CCGs would operate 
as a federation with 
a joint management 
team and some shared 
governance and 
decision making

• working to existing 
local authority scrutiny and 
health and wellbeing board 
arrangements, thereby 
remaining responsive to local 
demographics and health 
needs
• could reduce some 
duplication and provide 
some additional capacity and 
economies of scale 
• improved reporting and 
pooling of clinical expertise 
in Leicestershire and Rutland 
would potentially bring 
advantages for consistency of 
services in those parts of the 
STP area

• one of the CCGs could 
withdraw from the federation at any 
time - lacks long term resilience
• limited advantage for system 
financial sustainability 
• does not address immediate 
financial challenges that we face as 
system
• Potential remains for different 
decisions to be made that fails to 
address health inequalities and need
• puts individual CCGs into 
competition with one another for 
national funding streams

Retain the current 
CCGs.  The three 
CCGs would operate 
as a federation with 
a joint management 
team and some shared 
governance and 
decision making

• builds upon what we 
already have 
• benefit of established 
structures 
• protects organisational 
and place based memory that 
exists within each of the three 
CCGs
• preserves current 
relationships, particularly with 
local authorities, and maintains 
local patient voice

• one of the CCGs could 
withdraw from a federation at any 
time - lacks long-term resilience
• possibility of differentiated 
decision making that further 
compounds existing health 
inequalities and unwarranted 
variation across the system as a 
whole. 
• risk that there may not 
be a genuinely unified strategic 
commissioning voice that speaks 
authoritatively and credibly on behalf 
of the system
• puts individual CCGs into 
competition with one another for 
national funding streams
• limited impact in terms 
of reducing overheads and 
management costs across the three 
CCGs.
• existing levels of duplication 
would not necessarily be addressed 
to any great extent
• does not address underlying 
financial issues across the three 
CCGs

44



Page 19

Summary of key advantages Summary of key disadvantages

Retain the current CCG 
for Leicester City and 
create two new CCGs; 
one for Leicestershire 
and one for Rutland. 
The three CCGs would 
operate as a federation 
with a joint management 
team and some shared 
governance and 
decision making

This option has already 
been discounted on 
the basis that it is 
undeliverable 

• would provide co-
terminosity with existing 
local authority scrutiny and 
health and wellbeing board 
arrangements, providing very 
specific knowledge of local 
place
• potentially improve 
political oversight since 
it matches local authority 
boundaries

• would not provide any 
additional economies of scale over 
and above current arrangements and 
could lead to further fragmentation 
and service variation
• in turn could lead to an 
exacerbation of existing health 
inequalities
• any one of the CCGs could 
withdraw from the federation at any 
time, meaning that the arrangements 
may lack longevity and resilience
• considerable work would be 
required to set up two completely 
new CCGs and, given resource and 
capacity constraints, this may be a 
significant distraction
• unlikely that this option would 
facilitate more collaborative or 
effective working at an STP level, 
nor would it address any concerns 
raised by providers and partners in 
relation to weaknesses within current 
arrangements
• does not address underlying 
financial issues across the three 
CCGs
• unlikely to be supported by 
NHS England on the basis that a 
CCG for Rutland would not have the 
critical mass of patient population 
to be sustainable in the medium to 
longer term

45



Page 20

Our preferred option – a new single LLR CCG

Taking into account the findings of our options appraisal, we 
believe a single CCG is most likely to put us in the strongest 
position to deliver the desired improvements now and in the future. 

No decisions have yet been made and the views of our 
stakeholders will be key in determining our final proposals. These will also be subject to formal 
consultation before we decide on the future form of a single strategic commissioner in LLR.  

Benefits and opportunities of a new single CCG
We believe that a single strategic commissioner in the form of one CCG would have a number of 
benefits and opportunities for patients, member practices, partners and other stakeholders. 

The most significant and compelling, in our view, is that the coming together of the three existing 
CCGs as one new strategic commissioning organisation - alongside the development of an ICS - 
provides us with the greatest opportunity to genuinely change our health and care system for the 
benefit of our patients. 

It would allow us to begin a transformative journey that addresses the historic imbalance between 
in-hospital and out-of-hospital care. We would do this by working as one, in partnership with our 
providers, to redirect resources to support care provided by GPs and community services that 
focus on proactively managing the health of patients to keep them well and reduce expensive and 
unnecessary hospital visits and stays wherever possible.

In summary, the benefits we expect to realise as a result of coming together as one strategic 
commissioning organisation are:

Better healthcare and outcomes

Align with health and care partners across the 
system in order to address health inequalities 
and ensure consistency of services where 
appropriate.

Better use of resources
Redirect clinical time and resources that can 
be invested in to tackling system-wide health 
priorities.

Stronger, more consistent commissioning 
voice and leadership

Provide a stronger clinical voice in strategic 
decisions about health and care services for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

Greater support for transformation and 
innovation

Scale-up the most successful local clinical 
innovations to rapidly share best practice 
across a wider area.

46



Page 21

We believe a single strategic commissioner in the form of one CCG would have a  number of 
benefits and opportunities for our stakeholders. In summary, these include:

Patients

Benefits for Patients
✓ Focus on agreed priorities and reducing health inequalities will improve health outcomes  

 for th ose patients often overlooked or seldom heard
✓ A single commissioning organisation would bring a consistent approach to commissioning 

polici es across LLR, ensuring that they are equitable for all patients within our area
✓ A single LLR CCG would end fragmentation of current commissioning arrangements,   

reduc   ing the confusion and frustration caused by having multiple CCGs
✓ Would support the move towards becoming an Integrated Care System, which in the long 

term w ill help us focus on transformational change and delivering improved outcomes
✓ Provides enhanced opportunity to tackle health inequalities by providing flexibility to target 

discre tionary spend from the collective budget towards those areas with the greatest needs
✓ Enables greater focus on improving service performance through increased capacity and 

flexibility to target our combined financial resources appropriately
✓ Would allow CCGs to invest more in front line services due to savings achieved in back   

office   functions.

Member practices and other clinicians

Benefits for member practices and other clinicans
✓ Enable greater sharing of best practiceand learning across PCNs in LLR
✓ More consistent commissioning approach will reduce variation in clinical practice and   

service  s
✓ Clinical time can be directed to transformational change – getting greatest gain from the  

limited  clinical resources available to us across the three existing CCGs
✓ It would be easier to scale up the most successful clinical innovations to rapidly share   

best p ractic e across LLR
✓ Provides a strong, more coherent clinical voice in strategic decisions about health and  

care, which will help to reduce duplication, and improve performance and outcomes for 
patients    

✓ Easier to integrate with secondary care through an LLR clinical network.

47



Page 22

Staff

Local authorities

Benefits for Staff
✓ Removing organisational boundaries will allow us to create a shared talent pool, giving staff 

the opportunity to develop and use their skills in more challenging ways
✓ Staff would have greater capacity to support partners, through the Care Alliance(s), to 

deliver transformational change as duplication of roles would be removed
✓ Likely to improve retention and career progression as a result of a larger organisation with 

more opportunities for development
✓ Reduced duplication of work and associated frustration
✓ Greater consistency in standards and expectations.

Benefits for Local Authorities
✓ Provides a single, strong and consistent commissioning vision and voice to partners, which 

will help to reduce duplication, and improve performance and outcomes for patients
✓ Staff would have greater capacity to support partners, through the Care Alliance(s), to 

deliver transformational change as duplication of roles would be removed from the system
✓ Through minimising structural barriers that exist between organisations there would be a 

removal of competing priorities of individual organisations and allow development of aligned 
objectives which will support both the system and patients

✓ The increased size and singular voice of the commissioning organisation will enable more 
strategic working and alignment with local and regional partners to develop and transform 
services

✓ Streamlining and simplification of decision making  would mean shorter, more responsive 
processes and lead to quicker implementation of transformation and improvements.

Financial

Financial Benefits
✓ One commissioning budget across LLR means increased flexibility to focus resources to 

need and sectors
✓ Economies of scale by having one instead of three organisations to run, enabling resources 

saved to be redirected to the front line
✓ Removal of duplication and triplication
✓ Reduces complexity of system wide financial planning and control
✓ Enables more efficient use of assets and resources
✓ Creates a stronger voice within any resource discussion and decisions taking place at a 

regional and/or national level
✓ More likely to achieve required reduction in CCG management and administration costs.

48



Page 23

Developing a new single CCG for LLR

Developing a new single CCG for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland gives us the opportunity 
to create a new kind of organisation that builds upon what is good about our current arrangements 
while also addressing those things that have often limited progress.

The exact composition of a new Governing Body is still to be determined. However, it is expected 
that GP members will continue to be elected to the board to represent the views of constituent 
member practices within a particular place. It is also possible that at least one officer, and possibly 
an independent director (Independent Lay Member), will be nominally aligned to place to support 
the development and maintenance of relationships at that level.

However, it is important to recognise that all directors – whether managerial, clinical or 
independent – will be appointed to the Governing Body to act in the best interests of all 1.1million 
patients that the new organisation would serve. 

As such, all members, regardless of background or interest, will have a collective corporate 
responsibility and accountability for the success of the organisation and delivery of its statutory 
responsibilities.

The work of any new Governing Body will be guided by its vision and values, which it will need to 
collectively develop and agree. This will provide the opportunity to incorporate a firm commitment 
to identifying and addressing health inequalities into the fabric of the new CCG in a way that is 
commensurate with the requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan. Governance arrangements will 
also need to be developed that reflect and protect this commitment.

Financial planning principles of a new single CCG

The need to act on health inequalities and unmet need is a core requirement of the NHS Long 
Term Plan, which sets out a requirement for strategic commissioning organisations and NHS 
providers to collectively have a concerted and systemic approach to reducing inequalities.

To support this, local areas have received five-year funding allocations that use a more accurate 
assessment of health inequalities and unmet need.

Local areas are also required to set out agreed specific, measurable goals for closing health 
inequalities over the next 5-10 years, including those relating to deprivation - which tends to be 
one of the greatest drivers of health inequalities within LLR. Working together as one organisation 
will allow us to take a holistic view of deprivation and unmet need across the whole of our area, 
with priorities and criteria for investment developed to adequately reflect this.

There is a firm commitment that any new single CCG for LLR would baseline current investment 
as it is currently understood by both place (e.g., Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland) and 
programme. In this way there would be a clear unambiguous picture of existing non-discretionary 
spend, which represents a starting point for future investment. 

As part of our developing financial strategy we would also set out what our long-term investment 
plan looks like, building in anticipated levels of financial growth over the course of the next four 
years. This will allow us to demonstrate expected percentage increases, which will be monitored 
by the Governing Body. It is expected that every part of the system will grow, although differentially 
in some areas based on need and health inequality.

49



Page 24

As part of this arrangement any new single CCG would make investments jointly with local 
authority partners where beneficial to do so, whilst it would also make investments (and savings) 
in line with the shape of the LLR strategic plan. This means that there would be a clear focus on 
mental health, community services, and primary care networks.

As part of the new system it would be essential that the new CCG monitors both how resources 
are committed and how health inequalities are being improved/changed.

Planning and prioritisation

As a system we have already identified our strategic priorities for the next five years, these being 
the things that will help us to deliver a step change to local services and health and wellbeing 
during that period and beyond.

A central tenet of this approach is population health management. This will target prevention, 
intervention and care for those most likely to benefit. As part of this there is a clear commitment to 
creating detailed population profiles at place and neighbourhood level for patients in LLR– driven 
by public health understanding and data – that incorporates risk stratification, social care, and 
information on the wider determinants of health.

At a strategic level this data and insight will be used to inform the priorities and outcomes required 
across the system, and influence how discretionary funding may be targeted differentially at a 
place level to achieve these ambitions. This will be complex, but we are committed to ensuring 
that we are clear as a system as to what the health inequality improvements we are striving for in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland look like.

Critical to this will be working with public health and local authority colleagues to define in a 
quantifiable way what the health inequalities and contributory factors are within each place – 
supported by robust data and intelligence. This work is beginning, though it is still in the relatively 
early stages.

It is clear that we need to identify the right outcomes if we are to ensure investment is targeted 
to the right areas. However, it is recognised that many of the determinants of health inequalities 
are most likely to be impacted positively through focus on economic and social issues rather 
than through a focus purely on health service delivery. This includes educational attainment, 
employment opportunity, housing, transport, recreation, air quality, and regulations regarding food, 
alcohol and tobacco.

As a result it is essential that any new CCG works hand in hand – both now and in the future – 
with the local authority at place level, through statutory Health and Wellbeing Boards, to develop 
a clear understanding of the causes of health inequalities, and develop priorities that are relevant 
and appropriate for our places within Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

50



Page 25

Timescales and next steps

The existing CCGs and their partners need to work quickly to ensure an ICS is in place by April 
2021 in line with national requirements. It is our anticipation that any new arrangements for 
commissioning will need to be put in place in advance of this. We also want to ensure that we 
make the best decisions for the future in LLR and that we are configured in the best way possible 
to support the development of our local ICS.  

Through this pre-consultation engagement process, we would like to hear your views on our 
proposals for a single strategic commissioner in the context of an integrated care system and 
specifically: 

• whether there are things that are important to you that you don’t feel we have considered
• the benefits and disbenefits of the proposals from your point of view 
• what you think are the most significant issues that will affect successful implementation of a 

single commissioning organisation
• what you think works well in the current commissioning/provider structure and what you would 

like to be retained in the future 
• what frustrates you about the current commissioning/provider structure and what would you 

like to see addressed in the future 
• your thoughts on how to ensure a single strategic commissioner can  be responsive to patients, 

practices, providers and local authorities

We will use your feedback to shape our plans before undertaking wider consultation. You can let 
us know your views online, by visiting www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/SSCICS2019

51



Page 26

Glossary

Term Description

Better Care Together The partnership of local health and social care 
organisations working together to improve care.

Care Alliance Health and social care providers working 
together to deliver health care in the best way.

Care Plan A plan that describes the care a person should 
receive, their medication and what to do if their 
condition gets worse. It is developed after an 
assessment of a person’s health and wellbeing 
needs. 

Clinical Commissioning Group Plans and buys most health services for a local 
population. 

Commissioning Planning, agreeing, buying and monitoring 
healthcare provision in order to meet the needs 
of patients.

Constitution A formal document that describes how an 
organisation will operate.

Federation A group of organisations that have joined 
together to form a larger organisation.

Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) A statutory forum where political, clinical, 
professional and community leaders from 
health and care organisations come together to 
improve the health and wellbeing of their local 
population and reduce health inequalities.

Health Inequalities The unjust and avoidable differences in 
people’s health across the population and 
between specific population groups.

Healthwatch An organisation set up by Government to 
represent the views of users of health and 
social care services and members of the public.

Holistic Services Services that treat the whole person, taking into 
account mental and social factors, rather than 
just the symptoms of a disease.

Integrated Care Systems or Pathways Health and social care organisations working 
together in a local area to provide good quality 
care for patients. It consists of a strategic 
commissioner (plan and buy services), a care 
alliance (organisations that provide care) 
and primary care networks (groups of GP 
practices).

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy A document produced by Health and Wellbeing 
Boards that describes how the health and 
wellbeing of the local population will be 
improved.

52



Page 27

Term Description

LLR Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

Local Authority Local Government – for example Leicester 
City Council, Leicestershire County Council, 
Rutland Borough Council.

Local Authority Scrutiny Also known as the Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. It is a meeting of local 
councillors who review the plans of health 
organisations to ensure they are fit for purpose 
and represent the needs of local people.

Medication Review An examination of a person’s medicines by 
a health professional, such as a GP or a 
pharmacist, to check they are still working for 
the patient and are still needed.

NHS Long Term Plan The NHS Long Term Plan is a ten year plan 
that describes how health care will be provided 
and improved. It aims to give everyone the best 
start in life; deliver world-class care for major 
health problems, such as cancer and heart 
disease, and help people age well.

Pathway The process that patients follow through the 
NHS to receive treatment for a condition.

Primary Care Network Groups of GP practices working together with 
other health and social care professionals, 
such as nurses, dietitians and pharmacists, to 
provide excellent health care for patients.

Primary Care Network boundaries The areas covered by the practices in a 
Primary Care Network.

Provider Organisation delivering health care services.
For example, a hospital, GP practice, 
local authority (social care) or community 
organisation.

Service Specifications Describes in detail the care that a service will 
deliver.

Single Control Total Financial targets to be met by NHS 
organisations.

Strategic Commissioner One single organisation, or a group of 
organisations working together, to plan and buy 
healthcare for the local area. In this case, for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

System The collective group of health and social care 
organisations that provide care for local people.

Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership

The partnership of local health and social care 
organisations working together to improve care.

Voluntary Sector Organisations whose primary purpose is to 
create social impact rather than profit. It is often 
called the third sector.

53



A partnership between:
• East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
• Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group
• West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

54



 

 
 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4th MARCH 2020 
 

REPORT OF NHS WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CCG AND NHS EAST 
LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CCG 

 
2019/20 QUALITY, INNOVATION, PRODUCTIVITY AND PREVENTION 

PROGRAMME UPDATE 
  

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the 2019/20 Quality, Innovation, 

Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme for NHS West Leicestershire CCG 
(WL CCG) and NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (ELR CCG).  

  
Background 

 
2. A report was provided to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) in 

June 2019 outlining the planned 2019/20 QIPP programme for NHS West 
Leicestershire CCG (WL CCG) and NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (ELR 
CCG). 
 

3. Locally WL CCG, ELR CCG and Leicester City CCG (LC CCG) had worked together 
collaboratively to agree the 2019/20 QIPP plan and Table 1 below summarises the 
QIPP (Net) savings requirements for each of the CCGs in order to deliver their 
financial targets. 

 
Table 1: Summary of Net QIPP Requirements 

 
 ELR CCG WL CCG COUNTY TOTAL 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Identified QIPP (20,354) (17,428) (37,782) 

Unidentified QIPP (6,289) (4,949) (11,238) 

Total QIPP Requirement (26,642) (22,378) (49,020) 

 
 

4. Many of the QIPP schemes involve service transformation such as new models of 
care, service reconfiguration and re-designed clinical pathways. There are also a 
number of transactional QIPP schemes expected to improve efficiency and value for 
money. 
 

5. The QIPP targets for  ELR CGG and WL CCG are 6.0% and 4.3% respectively, both 
of which present significant challenges. As shown above, ELR CCG and WL CCG 
started the financial year with an element of unidentified QIPP within their financial 
plans amounting to £6.289m and £4.949m respectively. 

 

 

55 Agenda Item 10



 
 

 
 
2019/20 QIPP Delivery  
 
6. QIPP is monitored internally within the CCGs with the support of a Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland, (LLR) wide Project Management Office, (PMO). Senior 
Responsible Officers (SROs) are in place for each QIPP scheme who are 
responsible for the development and implementation of plans alongside clinical leads 
supported by finance, contracting and other support staff.  
 

7. Monitoring and escalation takes place at the QIPP Assurance Group (QAG), which is 
an executive level LLR meeting which meets twice monthly. Formally the outcome of 
PMO and QAG processes is reported into the Collaborative Commissioning Board 
and also individual CCG formal committees on a monthly basis. 
 

8. As at month 10, the QIPP delivery as reported by SROs indicated achievement of 
£25.362m year to date and forecast £30.725m by the end of the year against plans of 
£40.558m and £49.020m respectively: 

 
Table 2: Summary Performance by CCG: 
 

  
YTD Plan 
(£'000) 

YTD 
Actuals 
(£'000) 

YTD 
Variance 
(£'000) 

Annual 
Plan 

(£'000) 

Forecast 
Out-turn 
(£'000) 

Annual 
Variance 
(£'000) 

Annual 
Variance 

(%) 

ELR CCG (£22,089) (£14,316) £7,773 (£26,642) (£17,302) £9,340 35% 

WL CCG (£18,469) (£11,046) £7,423 (£22,378) (£13,423) £8,955 40% 

Grand Total (£40,557) (£25,362) £15,196 (£49,020) (£30,725) £18,295 37% 
 
 

 
Table 3: Forecast Out-turn Summary Performance by Workstream: 
 

Workstream Plan  Deliveries Variance
Monthly 

Movement
Plan  Deliveries Variance

Monthly 

Movement
Plan  Deliveries Variance

Monthly 

Movement

CHC (£2,347) (£3,414) (£1,067) £0 (£2,296) (£2,661) (£365) £0 (£4,643) (£6,076) (£1,433) £0

Children's (£233) (£9) £224 £0 (£257) (£5) £252 £0 (£490) (£15) £475 £0

Community Health (£2,800) (£2,035) £765 (£55) (£3,225) (£2,164) £1,061 (£37) (£6,025) (£4,199) £1,826 (£92)

Contracting (£1,660) (£1,658) £2 £0 (£1,555) (£1,532) £24 £0 (£3,216) (£3,190) £26 £0

Corporate (£916) (£589) £327 £9 (£74) (£74) £0 £0 (£990) (£663) £327 £9

Integrated Teams (£755) (£179) £577 (£8) (£651) (£185) £466 (£4) (£1,406) (£363) £1,043 (£12)

Medicines Management (£4,956) (£4,944) £11 (£151) (£4,811) (£4,616) £195 (£625) (£9,767) (£9,561) £206 (£777)

Mental Health (£326) (£294) £32 £17 (£180) (£153) £26 £19 (£506) (£447) £59 £36

Planned Care (£2,633) (£1,060) £1,574 £158 (£2,558) (£1,023) £1,535 £55 (£5,191) (£2,082) £3,109 £213

Primary Care (£3,023) (£3,040) (£17) £0 (£977) (£627) £350 £10 (£4,000) (£3,667) £333 £10

Unidentified (£6,166) £0 £6,166 £0 (£4,823) £0 £4,823 £0 (£10,989) £0 £10,989 £0

Urgent Care (£827) (£81) £746 (£12) (£970) (£381) £588 (£16) (£1,797) (£462) £1,335 (£28)

FOT (£26,642) (£17,302) £9,340 (£42) (£22,378) (£13,423) £8,955 (£598) (£49,020) (£30,725) £18,295 (£641)

LLR

M10 FOT (£'000)

East CCG West CCG

 
 

9. As can be seen from above, the main contributor to the forecast under delivery of 
£18.295m is the level of unidentified QIPP which stands at £6.166m for ELR CCG 
and £4.823m for WL CCG.  
 

10. There are also other areas of significant under delivery as outlined below: 
 
 

56



 
 

11. Planned Care (£3.109m under delivery): 
This under delivery is due to a number of schemes within the Planned Care 
workstream. 

 System Pathway Opportunities (Gastroenterology & Cardiology) – These 
schemes are reporting an under delivery of £0.667m. A piece of work 
undertaken on the Gastro work stream confirmed that all opportunities are being 
explored in other work streams and therefore resulted in the scheme being 
approved for closure by the QIPP Assurance Group (QAG). The Cardiology 
component of System Pathway Opportunities has been assimilated into the 
main Long-Term Conditions programme and is being driven forward by the 
Planned Care and LTCs teams. 

 Diagnostics – This scheme is reporting an under delivery of £0.612m due to 
sickness absence of the project manager and amendment to the % activity 
reduction assumptions originally made which have been deemed unrealistic. 

 Audiology – The original plan of £0.289m based on a re-procurement of the 
service has been deferred as a decision has been made to explore an 
Integrated Care System type model. 

 Referral Support Services – The implementation of the Ophthalmology and 
General Surgery specialities has been delayed, resulting in a forecast under 
delivery of £0.491m. 

 Pathology – An under delivery of £0.428m has resulted due to two critical tests 
being removed from scope following clinical advice because they are critical 
tests including full blood count and white cell count.  

 Follow Up Outpatients – This scheme is reporting an under delivery of 
£0.452m due to the fact that UHL have backfilled the reduction in activity 
achieved as a result of actions from the planned care programme. There are 
currently no contract levers that commissioners can use to remedy this with the 
provider.      

 
12. Community Health (£1.826m under delivery): 

This under delivery is due to the following schemes: 

 Community Services Redesign (CSR) (£0.800m) - A stretch element was 
assigned to the work stream at the start of the financial year against which no 
mitigating schemes were identified (£0.325m). In addition, the level of rehab 
activity removed from the University Hospitals Derby and Burton contract was 
only realised at 75% of the original plan, resulting in further under delivery 
against plan of £0.414m. The remaining element of the under delivery is due to 
the level of investment in the Home First service being greater than the 
decommissioned value of the ICS service. 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) Short Term Cost Reduction Mental 
Health & Community Health Services – these schemes relate to a risk share 
agreement with the provider to deliver savings across LLR by working 
collaboratively. The mental health element relates to the implementation of 
progress beds to improve flow and facilitate faster discharge, while the 
community element relates to the utilisation of excess capacity in community 
hospital beds as an alternative to care home placement or spot purchase of 
beds. To date the schemes identified result in savings of £0.187m, leaving a 
shortfall of £0.906m against the county wide target of £1.093m.  

 
13. Urgent Care (£1.335m under delivery): The under delivery is due to the following 

schemes: 

57



 
 

 Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) – (£0.936m) Anticipated savings in 
relation to reduced costs at the ED front door have not materialised 
(£0.627m). There have been delays for ELR CCG in shifting activity to Urgent 
Care Centres meaning benefits will not be realised in 19/20 (£0.210m). 
Anticipated savings associated with moving direct access diagnostics to 
community diagnostic hubs have not been realised due to delays (£0.141m). 

 Integrated Urgent Care – (£0.399m) Delays in the expansion of the clinical 
navigation hub have meant that the expected service changes (a reduction in 
EMAS activity), have not yet become business as usual. Therefore, the 
associated savings anticipated from a reduction in the EMAS contract will not 
be realised this financial year. Commissioners will now seek to negotiate the 
activity reduction with EMAS in 2020/21. 

 
14. Integrated Teams (£1.043m under delivery): 

This under delivery is mainly due to the following schemes, both of which have clear 
qualitative benefits: 

 Falls (£0.609m) –The year to date non-elective activity relating to the cohort of 
patients expected to be impacted by the Steady Steps programme has shown 
an overall increase in activity in relation to the baseline, rather than a decrease. 
Having reviewed the data set further, it has been confirmed that this element of 
the scheme cannot demonstrate any delivery of QIPP, resulting in an under 
delivery of £0.609m. 

 Long Term Conditions (£0.415m) - While significant work is taking place, this 
programme is transformational and multi-year in duration. The programme has 
been impacted by the uncertainty of the role of Primary Care in the delivery of 
key components of the programme, coupled with moderate provider 
engagement and unforeseeable high activity in UHL. 

 
15. ELR CCG and WL CCG are forecasting an under delivery against the QIPP plan for 

2019/20 of £18.3m, the main contributor to which is the level of unidentified QIPP 
which stands at £6.166m and £4.823m respectively. 
 

16. The LLR PMO has undertaken a “lessons learnt” review in order to understand and 
explain the themes and underlying reasons for underperformance against the QIPP 
savings plan in 2019/20.  These lessons learnt will be used to inform planning and 
implementation approaches in future years to support improved financial delivery.   

 
17. This shortfall in QIPP delivery has had a detrimental impact on the CCG’s ability to 

achieve their financial targets within 2019/20. In response to this and other financial 
pressures within the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) health economy, a 
system wide Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) was developed and implemented with 

the aim of ensuring overall financial balance. 
 
18. Despite expected delivery of approximately £27.848m of financial recovery savings 

(across the three Leicestershire CCGs), the two county CCGs are currently predicted 
to fail to achieve their financial targets in 2019/20 by £9.7m (East) and £10.9m 
(West) respectively.   

 
 
 
 

58



 
 

 
Impact on Patients & Groups with Protected Characteristics 
 
19. The CCGs follow a rigorous process in relation to the delivery of QIPP plans from 

initial planning stages through to eventual implementation. Processes have strong 
clinical leadership and involve quality assurance, impact and sustainability 
assessments, evaluation and consideration of service user feedback. 

 
20. Project Initiation Documents (PIDs) and Business Cases are subject to a formal 

confirm and challenge process both financially and clinically. Where required, all 
QIPP schemes have an identified, dedicated Clinical Lead. 

 
21. At the planning stage, QIPP schemes undergo an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

and Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) as appropriate.  
 

22. The general equality duty that is set out in the Equality Act 2010 requires public 
authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
23. The purpose of the EIA tool is to identify if the proposal being considered will affect 

people who share relevant protected equalities characteristics in different ways to 
people who do not share them.  
 

24. The QIA tool identifies whether the proposal being considered poses any risks to 
patient safety, clinical effectiveness or patient experience and requires formal sign off 
by the Chief Nurse and Quality Lead for the CCG.  

 
25. Within the QIA, the following information is provided for review: 

 Impact to vulnerable patients; 

 Impact on the Safeguarding of Adults or Children; 

 Compromises made to patient safety; 

 Impact on processes for preventing Healthcare Associated Infections or 
other related harm (e.g. MRSA, Falls etc); 

 Whether the scheme result in shorter lengths of hospital stays; 

 Whether the scheme improves patients’ clinical outcomes; 

 Whether the scheme results in a higher likelihood of recovery; 

 Whether the scheme provides better access to wider care pathways; 

 Whether the scheme results in a more positive experience for patients; 

 Whether the scheme results in better access to services for patients; 

 Whether the scheme requires any public and/or patient engagement; 

 Whether the scheme requires patients or their carers to travel further to 
access services; 

 Impact on cleanliness and general environmental standards.  
 

59



 
 

26. All of the elements above are reviewed and a risk attributed to each area in terms of 
consequence and likelihood. Unless these are deemed appropriate clinically, the QIA 
will not be authorised and the project unable to progress.  

 
Conclusions 

 
27. As part of the planning process, QIPP schemes undergo an Equality Impact 

Assessment (EIA) and Quality Impact Assessment (PIA) as appropriate.  
 

28. The purpose of the EIA tool is to identify if the proposal being considered will affect 
people who share relevant protected characteristics in different ways to people who 
do not share them. 

 
29. The QIA tool identifies whether the proposal being considered poses any risks to 

patient safety, clinical effectiveness or patient experience and requires formal sign off 
by the Chief Nurse and Quality Lead for the CCG. 

 
30. ELR CCG and WL CCG are forecasting an under delivery against the QIPP plan for 

2019/20 of £18.3m, the main contributor to which is the level of unidentified QIPP 
which stands at £6.166m and £4.823m respectively – it has not been possible during 
the year to identify additional QIPP schemes to deliver savings to offset this shortfall. 
 

31. This shortfall in QIPP delivery has had a detrimental impact on the CCG’s ability to 
achieve their financial targets within 2019/20. 

 
32. Despite expected delivery of approximately £27.848m of financial recovery savings 

(across the three Leicestershire CCGs), the two county CCGs are currently predicted 
to fail to achieve their financial targets in 2019/20 by £9.7m (East) and £10.9m 
(West) respectively.   

 
 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Spencer Gay, Chief Finance Officer, WL CCG 
Tel: 01509 567754 
E-mail: spencer.gay@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk 

 

60

mailto:spencer.gay@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk


 

 
HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4th MARCH 2020 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH  

 
LEICESTERSHIRE SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY AND ACTION 

PLAN 2020 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to consult the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on the draft Suicide Prevention Action Plan for Leicestershire 2020-2023.  

2. The report also provides an overview of what is known about suicide locally, 
including factors that impact on levels of suicide, identification of those who may be 
at higher risk and the evidence for effective prevention. The report also references 
recent developments and progress in our efforts to limit the impact of suicide 
amongst our communities.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3. In April 2013 when Public Health transferred from the NHS into local government, 

suicide prevention became a local authority led initiative working closely with the 
police, clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), NHS England, coroners and the 
voluntary sectors. 

 
4. In December 2016 the Health Select Committee on Suicide Prevention 

recommended that health overview and scrutiny committees should be directly 
involved in ensuring effective implementation of local authorities’ suicide prevention 
plans. A report on local suicide prevention was considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in September 2018. 

 
5. The cross-Government National Suicide Prevention Strategy for England was 

published in 2012 and was refreshed in January 2017. The strategy has highlighted 
six key areas for action: 

• Reducing the risk of suicide in high risk groups; 
• Tailoring approaches to improve mental health in specific groups; 
• Reducing access to means of suicide; 
• Providing better information and support to those bereaved or affected by 
suicide; 
• Supporting the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and 
suicidal 
behaviour; 
• Supporting research, data collection and monitoring; and 
• Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk. 

 

61 Agenda Item 11



 
 

6. The priorities align with the following outcomes from the Leicestershire County 
Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 which was approved by the County Council on 6 
December 2017: 

 Wellbeing and opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the opportunities 
and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing. 

 

 Keeping people safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 
harm. 

 
Background 

 
7. Suicide is a devastating and tragic event which, though comparatively rare, affects a 

large number of people each time it occurs, sending ripples through families and 
communities. 

 
8. From 2001 onwards, suicide rates in England had been steadily falling and reached 

historically low levels in 2009. The rate increased steadily until it started to drop again 
in 2015-2017. The most recent local rate for 2016-18 equates to 50 people dying 
from suicide per year across Leicestershire. 

 
Graph 1 

Suicide rates per 100,000 in Leicestershire V England 2001-2018 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



 
 

Table 1:  
Suicides in Leicestershire 2001-2018 

Year 3-year aggregate Yearly average 

2001 - 03 129 43 

2002 - 04 132 44 

2003 - 05 120 40 

2004 - 06 138 46 

2005 - 07 120 40 

2006 - 08 115 38 

2007 - 09 105 35 

2008 - 10 114 38 

2009 - 11 137 46 

2010 - 12 143 48 

2011 - 13 169 56 

2012 - 14 168 56 

2013 - 15 164 55 

2014 - 16 161 54 

2015 - 17 143 48 

2016 - 18 151 50 

 
9. Around 4/5 of all suicides in Leicestershire occur in men, but rates are rising in 

women. It remains the biggest killer of men under 50 and the leading cause of death 
in people aged 15–24. Suicides account for a disproportionate amount of years of life 
lost to premature death.  

 
Graph 2: 

Male: Female ratio is 4:1 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

63



 
 

10.  Age of suicide: Suicides are commonest in middle age. 
 

Graph 3. 

:  
 
 
 

Specific groups at increased risk of suicide include looked after children, care, 
leavers, offenders; survivors of abuse or violence, including sexual abuse; veterans; 
people living with long-term physical health conditions; lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender people; and people from black and minority ethnic groups and asylum 
seekers. 

 
11. The Mental Health Foundation estimates that 90% of suicides and suicide attempts 

are associated with a psychiatric disorder1. Substance misuse, including alcohol are 
also significant underlying factors. 

 
12. Whilst people who are in the care of Mental Health Services are at increased risk of 

suicide, the majority of those who take their own lives have not been in contact with 
mental health services within the previous 12 months. Sometimes suicides occur 
without warning.  

 
13. Suicides are not inevitable. They are often the end of a complex history of risk 

factors and distressing events. Tackling social factors linked to mental ill-health is 
critical. These factors include unemployment, debt, social isolation, family breakdown 
and bereavement. Concerted action and collaboration is required amongst services, 
communities, individuals and across society, underpinned by clear local plans and 
actions. 

 
Local Progress on Suicide Prevention in Leicestershire: 
 
14. Leicestershire County Council (LCC) played a leading role in developing and 

launching the ‘Start the Conversation’, Suicide is Preventable’ website 
(https://www.startaconversation.co.uk/)  and campaign to coincide with World Suicide 

                                            
1
 Conwell, Y., Duberstein, P.R., Cox, C., Herrmann, J.H., Forbes, N.T., & Caine, E.D. (1996). Relationships 

of age and axis I diagnoses in victims of completed suicide: A psychological autopsy study. The American 
Journal of Psychiatry, 153(8), 1001–1008 

64

https://www.startaconversation.co.uk/


 
 

Prevention Day, 10 September 2018. The key message is that ‘suicide is 
preventable’ and through raising awareness and talking openly we can prevent death 
by suicide and build suicide safe communities. Broadly the campaign aims to: 

• Remove stigmas and myths and make it ok to have conversations about 
suicide; 
• Provide information and advice to individuals at crisis point; 
• Build safer communities through awareness raising; 
• Help people maintain good mental health; 
• Support those who have been bereaved by suicide. 

 
15. We now have a half-time suicide prevention co-ordinator/engagement officer within 

LCC public health team. 

16. We get dedicated support commissioned from Rural Community Council to deliver 
further public engagement and training. 

17. There has been close working between LCC and Loughborough University to 
address the mental health needs of students and staff. 

18. We have developed a suicide bereavement support service that went live in October 
2019 (delivered by the Tomorrow Project: 
https://www.startaconversation.co.uk/latest-news/2019/11/bereavementsupport) 

19. We undertook a deep dive into children and young people suicides in 2017/18 with 
recommendations shared with partners. This was followed by a conference ‘Learning 
from when Young People take their lives’ in May 2019 at De Montford University.  

Proposals 
 
20. Oversight and co-ordination of suicide prevention in Leicestershire sits under the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (LLR 
SAPG). The group is jointly led by Public Health departments in Leicestershire 
County Council and Leicester City Council. The group feeds directly into both the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards in each authority.  

 
21. A task and Finish sub-group of the LLR SAPG has used the national strategy, real 

time intelligence on local suicides and input from key stakeholders and partners to 
shape the Action Plan (2020-2023). 

 
22. The draft Leicestershire Suicide Prevention Action Plan is appended to this report. 

There are seven priorities that form the action plan.  The priorities have been chosen 
by the SAPG and reflect areas where significant gaps and opportunities have been 
highlighted locally: 

1. Target support at key High-Risk Groups and at High Risk Settings:  
We have already started work with Network Rail, British Transport Police and 
East Midlands Railways to address the risk of suicide on our railways. 

2. Protect people with a history of self-harm:  
Following an act of self-harm, the rate of suicide increases to between 50 and 
100 times the rate of suicide in the general population. We will work to 
implement NICE guidance on self-harm locally.  
 
 
 

65

https://www.startaconversation.co.uk/latest-news/2019/11/bereavementsupport


 
 

3. Support Primary Care to Prevent Suicide:  
Ninety per cent of people who take their lives have seen their GP in the previous 
12 months. We will support primary care to better identify and help patients at 
risk of suicide. 

4. Engage with Private Sector to Enhance Their Efforts to Prevent Suicide:  
We recognize we need to do much better at engaging with the private sector as 
a route into wider society to augment efforts to reduce the burden of suicide in 
LLR. 

5. Support Provision of Enhanced Suicide Awareness Training:  
We will continue to tackle stigmatizing attitudes to suicide, to raise general 
awareness about suicide risk and to help people to feel more confident in talking 
about suicide. 

6. Better use of media to manage messages about suicide:  
We will work with and utilize different media platforms and opportunities to 
ensure that reporting of suicides is done sympathetically and safely and that 
awareness raising, and preventive opportunities are maximized. 

7. Raise awareness with better data and better use of data:  
It is critical that we continue to evolve and refine our collection of timely 
information about death by suicide as a way of providing appropriate support for 
people bereaved by suicide, and to effectively respond to suicide hot spots and 
clusters. 
 
 

Consultation 
 
23. The Action Plan will be presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board in April prior to 

being considered for approval by Leicestershire Cabinet in May or June 2020. 

Conclusions 

 
24. Timelines for achievement and accountability for each priority in the Action Plan 

reflect the reality that suicides are the end point of a complex history of risk factors 
and distressing events. The prevention of suicide must address this complexity 
through concerted action and collaboration amongst services, communities, 
individuals and across society as a whole. 

 
25. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to comment on the draft 

Suicide Prevention Action Plan for Leicestershire 2020-2023. 
 
Background papers 
 
Report to the County Council – 6 December 2017 – Strategic Plan 2018 – 22 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 
 
Cabinet 22nd October 2019, Leicestershire Suicide Prevention Programme, ‘Start a 
Conversation’ and the Bereavement Support Service. Report from the Director of Public 
Health   
 

66



 
 

Officer to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health  
Tel: 0116 305 4259 email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mike McHugh, Consultant in Public Health 
Tel: 0116 3054236 email: mike.mchugh@leices.gov.uk 

 
List of Appendices 
 
LLR Suicide Prevention Action Plan 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
Suicide disproportionately impacts on socially excluded groups and overall approaches 
to suicide prevention must ensure that this health inequality is targeted and addressed. 
The Strategy and Action Plan will be considered by the Leicestershire Equalities Group 
and the Strategy and Action Plan will be subject to an Equality and Human Rights Impact 
Assessment. 
 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
People and groups who experience social disadvantage are more likely to be victims of 
suicide and of crime. Suicide Prevention approaches must be aligned with efforts to 
reduce violence e.g. through the Violence Reduction Network. 
 
Environmental Implications 
None  
 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
Tackling suicide requires concerted action and collaboration amongst services, 
communities, individuals and across society as a whole. 
 
Resource Implications: 
Additional funding for specific aspects of ‘Start a Conversation’ and in Suicide 
Bereavement Support has already been committed from the public health grant.   
 
 

67

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:mike.mchugh@leices.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland (LLR) Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2020-23 

 
Aim 

 
 Objective 

 
Specific outcome 

 
Milestones 

 
 
 

 
Monitoring data 

  

1. Target support at key High-Risk Groups and at High Risk Settings 
 
 

(a) Raise awareness of suicide in 
high risk groups; 
 

(b) Provide appropriate level of 
preventive support; 
 

(c) Identify local high-risk settings; 
 

(d) Develop plans to mitigate risk in 
these settings; 
 

(e) Develop plans to mitigate the 
impact of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs); 

 
 
 
. 
 
  
  
  

To use Real Time Surveillance 
data to understand and 
respond to deaths by suicide, 
including emerging evidence of 
settings, means, demographic 
characteristics.  
 
To use available resources to 
protect people at an increased 
risk of suicide, including 
training, peer communicators, 
community out-reach and 
bereavement support. 
 
To use public mental health 
approaches to increase 
resilience to mental illness, 
including for example better 
support for people in debt, 
gambling addiction, social 
isolation, unemployment  
 
To encourage people to seek 
timely appropriate support for 
mental illness {e.g. effective 
treatment for depression, 
measures to reduce social 
isolation or vulnerability to 
economic circumstances]. 
 
Work with local partners to 

To develop LLR public mental health 
campaigns to address wider 
determinants of health in high risk 
groups, access to mental health 
care support, including resilience 
and recovery services and IAPT. 
 
To use Suicide Audit and Prevention 
Group (SAPG) resources to 
enhance communication and 
improve access to training 
programmes. 
 
To develop cross-cutting and co-
ordinated approaches to improve 
signposting to support, such as 
tackling unemployment, debt, stigma 
and discrimination. 
 
To put in place evidence-based 
interventions to lower risk of suicide 
in settings deemed to be high risk, 
including barriers, signage. 
  
  
 

Spring meeting 2020: 
Suicide Audit and 
Prevention Group 
(SAPG) receives 
reports on deaths by 
suicide in LLR. 
 
Spring meeting 2020: 
Task and finish group 
to review evidence of 
risk in LLR. 
 
Spring meeting 2020: 
Develop reporting 
mechanisms to SAPG 
concerning hot spots. 
 
Winter meeting 2020: 
List local resources 
available to the 
SAPG.  
 
Create a task and 

finish group of SAPG 

in 2020 looking 

specifically at high 

risk groups and 

settings 

 
 

Evidence of risk from annual 
Audits of deaths by suicide to 
be delivered to Spring Suicide 
Audit and Prevention Group 
(SAPG) meeting;  
 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
reports concerning social 
prescribing, access to mental 
health services; 
 
Each SAPG meeting will take 
reports from key stakeholders 
and partners concerning 
mental health resilience and 
suicide prevention related 
activity.   
 
SAPG representative to liaise 
with, and report to, mental 
Health Partnership Boards and 
Health and Wellbeing Boards. 
 
Local reports to CCG 
commissioners on access to 
social prescribing and mental 
health services to sustain 
resilience to mental illness and 
provide support to people with 
anxiety and depression. 
 

69



 

2 

 

recognise and address the 
impact of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs). 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of people who are 

signposted to wider support 

networks by health and social 

care services. 

2. Protecting people with a history of self-harm 
 

(a) Encourage evidence-based 
responses to protect people who 
self-harm; 
 

(b) Work with health care 
commissioners to ensure best 
practice to protect people who 
self-harm; 
 

(c) Develop and disseminate 
information from supportive 
community groups, such as the 
Samaritans; 

 

To use Real Time Surveillance 
data to understand and 
respond to deaths by suicide, 
including emerging evidence of 
settings, means, demographic 
characteristics.  
 
To work with health care 
commissioners to implement 
NICE guidance on self-harm. 
 
To improve local monitoring of 
people who present with self-
harm. 
 
To promote key messages 
which are supportive of people 
who self-harm and sensitively 
highlights suicide risk in people 
who self-harm. 
 

To establish regular meetings with 
health care commissioners to 
implement NICE self-harm guidance 
in primary and secondary care; 
 
To ensure ‘Start a Conversation’ 
messages reflect latest best practice 
about protecting people who self-
harm; 
 
To ensure partner organisations 
take every opportunity to promote 
key messages about self-harm and 
suicide risk. 
 
 
 
  
 
. 
 

Spring meeting 2020: 
Task and finish group 
to review evidence of 
risk in LLR. 
 
Annual report to 
SAPG concerning 
latest self-harm 
guidance.  
 
 

Annual report on the number of 
people who die by suicide with 
a history of self-harm using 
Real Time Surveillance data.  
 
Report on the number of 
people who are trained in best 
practice response to self-harm 
in health care services. 
 
Report to SAPG by support 
groups about the local 
perceived need of people who 
self-harm in LLR. 
 
CCG commissioners will 
collect evidence towards the 
Public Health Outcome 
Framework measurement of 
people who self-harm 
 
 

3. Support Primary Care to Prevent Suicide 
 

(a) Work with primary care to 
identify and address the risk 
factors for suicide in their patient 
populations;  

 
(b) Raise awareness about 

suicide risk in primary care by 
helping staff feel more 
confident to talk about suicide 

To challenge stigmatizing 
and taboo attitudes towards 
the issues of self-harm and 
suicide 

 

Enhance primary care 
detection of and support for 
people at risk of self-harm  

To increase number of staff trained 
to identify suicide risk  
 
To equip primary care staff to 
support people bereaved by suicide. 

Annual report to 
SAPG of people 
attending Suicide 
Awareness Training 
and Suicide 
Bereavement Support 
Training 

Number of primary care staff 
trained in suicide awareness 
and bereavement support; 
 
Evidence of improved 
knowledge base and skills in 
primary care.  

70



 

3 

 

including IAPT and community 
mental health teams; 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Engage with Private Sector to Enhance Their Efforts to Prevent Suicide 
 

(a) Engage with the private sector to 
augment efforts to reduce the 
burden of suicide in LLR; 

 
 
 

To establish meaningful links 
and support networks with the 
private sector to enhance 
mental health resilience and to 
address the risk factors for 
suicide; 
 
To deliver awareness raising 
training in workplaces to help 
achieve the specific outcomes.  
 
Specifically deliver ASIST 

training within workplaces to 

help achieve the specific 

outcomes. 

 

To develop greater awareness of 
mental health, mental illness, suicide 
risk, how to support staff and 
mitigate risk factors; 
 
To link with LLR efforts on public 
mental health. 
 

Annual report of 
activity to SAPG 

Numbers of private sector 
partners pledging to ‘Start A 
Conversation’ 
 
Organisations accepting Time 
to Change Employers Pledge. 
 
Uptake of targeted training in 
the private sector 
 
 
 
 

5. Support Provision of Enhanced Suicide Awareness Training 

71



 

4 

 

(a) Raise general awareness about 
suicide risk; 

 
(b) Help people to feel more 

confident in talking about 
suicide; 
 

(c) Challenge stigmatising attitudes 
to suicide; 
 

(d) Promote the ethos embedded in 
the local and national strategies 
that “suicide is everybody’s 
business”;  
 

(e) Highlight the importance of 
suicide bereavement support 
and how to access it; 
 
 

To empower course attendees 
to challenge attitudes about 
suicide. 
 
To help attendees to make an 
initial response to support 
someone who has expressed 
suicidal thoughts. 
 
To expand Start a 
Conversation community offer 
by developing a ‘Community 
Champion’ scheme for 
community promotion delivered 
by LLR residents 
 
To enhance access to suicide 
bereavement support 

To increase the number of LLR 
residents trained in suicide 
awareness  
 
To train and empower LLR residents 
to deliver community or online 
awareness through the Start a 
Conversation campaign. 
 
 
 

2020-23: 12 Courses 
of suicide awareness 
training with 300 
delegates 
 
 
Annual report to 
SAPG 
 
 
Community events 
delivered in each of 
the districts across 
LLR 
 
Workforce events 
delivered by 
employees (i.e. HR 
staff)  

Course evaluation data 
reported regularly to 
commissioners. 
 
Community champions to 
report community and online 
activity.  

6. Better use of media (including social media) to manage messages about suicide 

(a) Recognise, understand and 
utilise different forms of media-
print, on-line, social to better 
understand risks and to 
strengthen engagement with key 
partners to tackle suicide risk;  

 
(b) Increase the online presence of 

the Start a Conversation 
campaign; 
 

(c) Work with and utilize different 
media platforms and 
opportunities to ensure that 
reporting of suicides is done 
sympathetically and safely and 
that awareness raising, and 
preventive opportunities are 
maximized; 

To increase campaign and 
website engagement 
 
To use Real Time Surveillance 
data to understand and 
respond to deaths by suicide, 
including emerging evidence of 
settings, means, demographic 
characteristics. 
 
To increase collaboration with 
local print and online media 
providers 

To use Real time Surveillance and 
annual audits to target specific high-
risk locations/populations to 
increase early recognition of suicide 
and promote local/national support 
services. 
 
Formal links established with local 
media outlets. 
 
Work through communications 
networks to disseminate Samaritans’ 
media guidelines to media contacts. 
 

Spring meeting 2020: 
Task and finish group 
to review evidence of 
risk in LLR. 
 
Review effectiveness 
and reach of first Start 
a Conversation social 
media paid advert 

Capture and analyse online 
advertisement data from all 
sources  
 
Evidence of sympathetic and 
safe reporting of suicide 
through local media channels. 
 
 

72



 

5 

 

7. DATA: Raise awareness with better data and better use of data 

(a) Improve and use information 
about death by suicide in LLR; 

To continue to use information 
about death by suicide as a 
way of providing timely 
appropriate support for people 
at risk of suicide, suicide hot 
spots and clusters 
 
To use Real Time Surveillance 
data as the main evidence 
source to inform suicide 
prevention policies and 
practices. 
 
Use data to provide 
appropriate support for people 
bereaved by suicide, and to 
effectively respond to suicide 
hot spots and clusters 
 

 
. 

To report annually on deaths by 
suicide in LLR, informed by Real 
Time Surveillance, ONS data and 
Public Health England Fingertips. 
 
  
 
 

Spring meeting 2020: 
SAPG receives 
reports on deaths by 
suicide in LLR. 
 
Regular Formal 
reporting of Real Time 
data in 2020 to feed 
into reports from 
SAPG 

Annual audit reports to SAPG 
preparatory to World Suicide 
Prevention Day. 
 
Quarterly reports to LLR SAPG 
and LLR Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat/LLR mental 
health programme delivery 
board. 
 
 

 

73



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2020.
	8 Dental Commissioning.
	9 Single Strategic Commissioner for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.
	Strategic commissioner ICS formatted FINAL

	10 2019/20 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention Programme Update.
	11 Leicestershire Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action Plan 2020.
	Suicide prevention action plan 2020 to 2023 v1.0


